
Annual Report 2011

Astro Resources NL
and Controlled Entities
ABN 96 007 090 904





 

 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

CORPORATE DIRECTORY ........................................................................................................................................... 1 

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES.............................................................................................................................................. 2 

DIRECTORS REPORT ................................................................................................................................................12 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ................................................................................26 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION .........................................................................................27 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS ......................................................................................................28 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY ..........................................................................................29 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS .......................................................................30 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION .....................................................................................................................................63 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ........................................................................................................................64 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT ...............................................................................................................66 

ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ............................................................................................................................75 

SCHEDULE OF TENEMENTS .....................................................................................................................................81 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

This page has been left intentionally blank. 



 

 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

1 

 

 

CORPORATE DIRECTORY 
 

 

Directors 

Peter Jermyn 
(Executive Chairman) 

Robert Hyndes  
(Executive Director) 

Malcolm Macleod 
(Executive Director) 

Graham Libbesson 
(Non-Executive Director) 

Company Secretary 

Lynton McCreery 

 

Auditors 

Stantons International 
Level 1, 1 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH   WA 6005 

Ph: +61 8 9481 3188 
Fx: +61 8 9321 1204 

 

ASX Code: ARO 

 

 

Registered Office 

Ground Floor, 3 Richardson Street 
WEST PERTH WA   6005 

Principal Place of Business 

Ground Floor, 3 Richardson Street 
WEST PERTH WA   6005 

Ph: +61 8 6389 5777 
Fx: +61 8 9486 1258 

Web: www.aro.com.au 

Share Registry (Australia) 

Link Market Services Limited 
Ground Floor, 178 St Georges Terrace 
PERTH   WA 6000 

Ph: +61 1300 554 474 
Fx: +61 2 9287 0303 

Home Exchange 

Australian Securities Exchange Limited 
Exchange Plaza 
2 The Esplanade 
PERTH   WA 6000 

 

http://www.aro.com.au/


 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

2 

 

 

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES 
 

Astro Resources NL (“Astro” or the “Company”) is an Australian based resources company with a portfolio of resource 
projects with a predominant focus on Western Australia. 

During the financial year the company focused on reviewing and advancing its existing project base and seeking out 
project or investment opportunities with the objective of adding significant shareholder value.   

This strategy resulted (as announced on 20 September 2011) in the successful acquisition of an 80% equity interest in 
Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd (GWM) the holder of the highly prospective Scott Coastal Plain Mineral Sands Project in 
the south west of Western Australia. 

The Company’s activities are contained in releases to the ASX on a quarterly basis or from time to time as is required 
under continuous disclosure regulations and can be obtained from the Company’s website www.aro.com.au  

 

ADMINISTRATION 

As announced on 16 March 2011, the Company’s Registered Office and Principal Place of Operations were relocated to 
Ground Floor, 3 Richardson Street, West Perth Western Australia. 

 

CAPITAL RAISING 

In October 2010, the Company raised $1million through the issue of 210 million fully paid ordinary shares at 0.5c ($0.005) 
to professional (S.708 compliant) investors. 

 

PROJECTS 

Scott Coastal Plain Mineral Sands (Acquisition post year end) 

As announced on 20 September 2011, subsequent to the year-end, Astro acquired an 80% equity interest in GWM (full 
terms of acquisition detailed on pages 60 - 61 of this annual report). 

GWM holds 100% of a portfolio of tenements highly prospective for mineral sands known as the “Scott Coastal Plain 
Mineral Sands Project” located within the Augusta region of southern Western Australia. 

• The Project covers approximately 400square kilometres, located in the heart of a known and established 
mineral sands region, close to key infrastructure. 

• The Project consists of 12 tenements (11 granted and 1 under application) covers a number of areas of high 
prospectivity and recorded Inferred JORC resources; 

o Governor Broome – Inferred JORC resource of 51million tonnes at 5% heavy minerals 

o Governor Broome East – Extensive drilling and exploration undertaken to the East of the Governor 
Broome resource area containing a number of highly mineralised strandlines. 

o Warner Glen and Rover Range – Inferred JORC resource of 106 million tonnes and 701 million tonnes 
at ~2.6% ilmenite respectively 

• Significant exploration upside through the systematic development of high-grade strandlines between 
Governor Broome and the historic and successfully mined, Jangardup mine. 

http://www.aro.com.au/
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  Image 1: The Scott Coastal Plain mineral sands project, covering numerous prospective locations across a project size of approx. 

400km2 
 

Overview 

The project lays approximately 250kms south of Perth, stretching between Augusta and Nannup.  Local infrastructure 
includes grid power, ports and comprehensive road networks.   

A mineral sands industry has operated in the region since the 1950’s and established mining infrastructure includes 
downstream processing facilities for the production of synthetic rutile and titanium dioxide pigment. 

 

Geology 

The Scott Coastal Plain located within the southern end of the Perth Basin and contains a series of buried dune and 
shoreline systems created during times of changing sea levels in the Pleistocene period.  The Project’s deposits are 
considered to have formed in areas of favourable coastline orientation as a result of sea level changes and prevailing 
ocean currents.   

The majority of the Heavy Mineral deposits of the Perth basin are located along similar paleo shorelines. 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

Portfolio 

The project comprises twelve (12) tenements (eleven granted with one under application); 

Governor Broome: Dennis Road: 
E70/2372 Granted E70/2655 Granted 
E70/2464 Granted Payne Road: 
P70/1583 Granted E70/2708 Granted 
P70/1584 Granted Rover Range: 
P70/1585 Granted E70/3682 Granted 
P70/1586 Granted E70/4119 Under application 
P70/1587 Granted Jangardup: 
  E70/3681 Granted 

 

Governor Broome 
The Governor Broome prospect is the most advanced within the portfolio with significant past exploration work and 
evaluation.  This has resulted in an Inferred JORC compliant resource of 51 million tonnes at 5% heavy mineral sands (with 
a 2% cut-off-grade).  The Governor Broome resource is based on a total of 501 drill holes that was drilled by previous 
holder Metal Sands.  271 holes have been drilled in the northern section on a regularly spaced grid pattern of 120 meters 
and some partial infill drilling (Image 2 on page 4).  The southern section has a total of 230 holes drilled on an irregular 
pattern with a significant area yet to be drilled which has the capacity to lead to an increase in overall resource.    

Governor Broome East 
In addition, Metal Sands drilled more than 800 holes east of Governor Broome (known as Governor Broome East) and in 
the process identified a number of highly mineralised strandlines.  The Company has retained an independent resource 
geologist to review and remodel this historic drill data, which is expected to result in a resource definition over the 
Governor Broome East area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    Image 2: Governor Broome -Inferred Resource of 51Mt @ 5.0%HM, with further drilling extending 
over the Governor Broome East prospect following the Paleo-Shoreline. 

Governor Broome 
Resource Outline 
Governor Broome East 
Target Area 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

Warner Glen and Rover Range Deposits 

E70/3682 covers approximately 34km2 in the west of the Scott Coastal Plain Project and contains both the Warner Glen 
and Rover Range Deposits. 

In 1994, BHP estimated an Indicated Resource of 106Mt @ 2.82% ilmenite for the Warner Glen deposit1.   

Mineralisation at Warner Glen is open to both the north and east, moving away from existing river systems, providing 
exploration upside through testing those extensions. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Image 3: Warner Glen; drilled by BHP prior to development by Metal Sands, though additional areas of 
mineralisation remained unexplored. 

 

Rover Range has an Inferred JORC compliant resource of 701Mt @ 2.6% ilmenite.1 

The Company intends to undertake environmental reviews alongside landholder consultation to determine best course of 
action with the Warner Glen and Rover Range prospects. 

Significant Exploration Potential 

Most importantly, there is significant potential to discover near areas of heavy minerals, to extend known deposits and to 
delineate higher-grade areas within the highly mineralised strandlines that extend from Governor Broome through the 
successfully mined Jangardup deposit which is located within the boundaries of the Company’s E70/3681 granted 
tenement. 

                                                           
1 Continental Resource Management, independent geologist report August 2011. 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

Independent Review 

During due diligence, the Company engaged industry experts, TZ Minerals International (“TZMI”), to undertake an asset 
appraisal and benchmark study incorporating the Governor Broome and Governor Broome East project areas.  This review 
has also incorporated the scoping study undertaken by AMEC Minproc over the Governor Broome resources area during 
2007. 

In September, TZMI provided an interim report, which subject to validation of variables such as mineral assemblage 
(currently in progress), indicated the potential for a long life economic mining operation. 

Additionally GWM commissioned Continental Resource Management to undertake an Independent Geologist Report 
which was attached to Astro’s announcement dated 20 September 2011 and is available on the Company’s website 
www.aro.com.au. 

 

Uranium - Macphee Creek 

The Macphee Creek project (exploration licence 80/3243) is held by wholly owned subsidiary Macphee Resources Pty Ltd 
and situated in the East Kimberley region of Western Australia, located approximately 130kms south of Kununurra. 

The Macphee Project is centred on a belt of Proterozoic granite and contains six (6) documented uranium occurrences 
with sample assays up to 0.85% U308, and numerous areas of high uranium scintillometer readings. 

The geological setting and nature of the primary uranium mineralisation historically recorded indicates that the area 
suggests the potential for both a large tonnage and high-grade uranium resource. 

In July 2010, Southern Geoscience completed the geophysical interpretation of the 4,300 line km airborne magnetics and 
radiometrics survey.  As announced, the results over the entire survey were highly encouraging with magnetic responses 
complementary to the previously identified anomalies.  

Within the northern in-fill area, a total of nine (9) additional uranium anomalies exist, associated with the Dunham fault 
zone and the contacts with the Hensman Sandstone and the Crooked Creek Granite and Castlereagh Porphyry with two (2) 
being consistent with historically documented readings. 

In October 2010, a helicopter-borne spectrometer survey and geochemical analysis program as a field follow up of the 
airborne survey was conducted. 

 

http://www.aro.com.au/
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Image 4: Substantial targets were identified from the 2010 interpretation, leading to a systematic 
spectrometer and geochemical analysis program. 

 

Radiometric anomalies identified in the north of the tenement (above) are coincident with historical ground radiometric 
assay readings of up to 0.85% U3O8 which, together with Astro’s geochemistry results of up to 2080ppm uranium, 
confirmed the high prospectivity of the area. 

The Company has formalised a focused work program to test a number of key targets and had intended to undertake the 
proposed drill program during the year, however, negotiations with the Kimberly Land Council (KLC) regarding heritage 
agreements have, not as yet, been concluded. The required Program of Work will be submitted for approval immediately 
upon the satisfactory conclusion of these discussions. 

 

Diamonds 

The Company holds a number of projects located on the Kimberley Plateau, located in the Kimberley region of Western 
Australia, a region rich in geological history and diamond-bearing lamproite ore.  Over 200 million carats of diamonds have 
been produced at the Argyle Diamond Mine since it began production in 1985. 

Over the last 12 months there has been a renewed interest in diamonds in the region which has been highlighted in late 
2010 when Venus Metals Ltd announced a JORC Inferred Resource estimated at 5 Million carat diamonds (17.9Mt at an 
average grade of 28 CPHT for 5M carats using a cut-off of 10CPHT) at their Smoke Creek Project, which is within the 
boundaries of Astro’s Lower Smoke Creek (E80/4120) project area. 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Macphee Creek 

Work on the central and southern regions of the Macphee project area have yielded a number of magnetic anomalies that 
are indicative of possible ultramafic pipes and dykes worthy of follow up assessment for diamond prospectivity. 

In 1987, Argyle Diamond Mines reported the occurrence of diamonds in bulk samples at three separate sites in creeks 
draining the southern portion of the project area. 

A number of airborne magnetic anomalies in the vicinity of these drainage samples have been identified for geological 
mapping and sampling for diamond potential. 

 

Lissadell Road Dykes 

Lissadell Road Dykes (also known as the Argyle Dykes) consists of 3 contiguous prospecting licences (P80/1615-1617) 
located approximately 116 kilometres south-south west of Kununurra and 9km west of Argyle Diamond Mine. 

An extensive work program has been mapped out to include a combination of geology, geochemistry and RAB drilling to 
test for further and consistent dykes beneath alluvial cover.  Subject to funding, it is intended that the proposed drilling 
program will coincide with that of Macphee Creek. 
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  Image 6:  The Lissadell Road Dyke drilling program is to consist of RAB drill holes to 
test extensions and consistency of known lamproite occurrences. 

 

 

 

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lower Smoke Creek & Carr Boyd Range 

The Lower Smoke Creek (E80/4120) and Carr Boyd Range (E80/3196) are 2 adjacent tenements.  Combined, they cover 
approximately 160sq kilometres located approximately 110kms south southwest of Kununurra in the East Kimberley 
region of Western Australia. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Image 7: The Lower Smoke Creek and Carr Boyd Range tenements are adjacent tenure in the 
East Kimberley region, prospective for diamonds, surrounds Venus Metals Ltd JORC 
Inferred 5million carat diamond resource.
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

Carr Boyd Range lies approximately 12kms north of the Argyle diamond mine and abuts the lower smoke creek drainage 
area, the site of the original diamond finds that resulted in the discovery of the Argyle AK1 diamond pipe. The project is 
considered highly prospective for similar primary diamond intrusions. 

The southern boundary of Lower Smoke Creek Project adjoins the Argyle Diamond Mine tenement area that, prior to 
mining, was reported by Argyle Diamond Mine, to contain an estimated overall resource of 14 million m3 (or 
approximately 30 Million tonnes) of gravel at an average grade of 1 carat/m3 representing an estimated grade of 50-70 
carats per 100 tonnes. 

Lower Smoke Creek was recently granted (August 2011).  Carr Boyd Range remains under application pending completion 
of Heritage Protection negotiations. 

 

Gold - North Doolgunna Joint Venture 

The North Doolgunna Gold Project (Astro holds 60% through its wholly owned subsidiary, North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd) 
embraces three exploration licences (E52/2480 - 2482) to the immediate southwest of the Plutonic Gold Mine in the highly 
prospective Peak Hill Goldfield. 

ENE-SWS faulting of the granitic and mafic units of the Myrimia Inlier is believed to pervade southward through the North 
Doolgunna Gold Project.   

Following grant of the tenements, in October 2010, a work program consisting of highly sensitive ionic leach soil 
geochemistry was undertaken on E52/2482. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  Image 8: An aeromagnetic survey over the North Doolgunna Gold Project was analysed in conjunction with 
historical open file and proprietary data to produce targets for the October 2010 work program. 

 
Although only low gold levels were detecting, the sampling returned anomalous Ni and Cr values indicative of mafic 
lithology which have the potential to host gold mineralisation.  High levels of uranofile elements, U/Th/Sc and Rare Earths 
were also detected. 
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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES (CONT.) 

 

In particular, a portion of tenure in the NW of E52/2482, around the confluence of the two major interpreted structures, 
has being identified as an area requiring a detailed and focused follow-up.  Several elements associated with greenstones / 
gold mineralisation appear to be anomalous in this area. 

It coincides with an area of previous lag geochemistry gold anomalies by Plutonic Operations, which were originally 
discounted as being alluvial in nature. 

The Company believes that the results warrant a follow-up, close spaced sampling program over the anomalous areas 
prior to the possible undertaking of a drill program. 

 

Tanami (Northern Territory) 

Two exploration licences remain in application in the gold-prospective Tanami region of the Northern Territory.  Further 
review will be undertaken pending grant of the licences. 

The information in this report, insofar as it relates to mineral exploration activities, is based on information compiled by Malcolm 
Macleod, who is a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, and who has more than five years experience in the field of 
activity being reported on.  Mr Macleod is a full-time employee of the Company.  Mr Macleod has sufficient experience which is 
relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which is being undertaken to 
qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of the ‘Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Minerals 
Resources and Ore Reserves’.  Mr Macleod consents to the inclusion in the report of matters based on his information in the form 
and context in which it appears. 
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DIRECTORS REPORT 
 

Your directors present their report on the company and its controlled entities (“Economic Entity”) for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2011. 

 

DIRECTORS 

At the date of this Financial Report the following are the Directors of the Company; 

 Mr Peter Jermyn 

 Mr Robert Hyndes 

 Mr Malcolm Macleod 

 Mr Graham Libbesson 

 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

The following persons held the position of company secretary at the end of the financial year: 

 Lynton McCreery 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Astro Resources NL is an Australian based resources company focused on the exploration and investment opportunities in 
the global resource sectors.  The main focus of the Economic Entity during the financial year was exploration for diamond 
deposits, uranium, gold and other minerals.  Currently the Company has interests in Western Australia and the Northern 
Territory. 

 

OPERATING RESULTS 

The consolidated loss of the Economic Entity for this financial year after providing for income tax amounted to $(975,482) 
(2010 $(1,044,438)) 

 

DIVIDENDS PAID OR RECOMMENDED 

The directors recommend that no dividend be paid for the year ended 30 June 2011. 

 

FINANCIAL POSITION 

The net assets of the Economic Entity of $3,494,477(2010: $3,364,403) is made up predominantly of $1,811,062 (2010: 
$2,160,842) in cash and capitalised exploration expenditure of $1,995,118 (2010: $1,717,392), trade creditors/accruals of 
$508,751 (2010: $594,343). 

Throughout the financial year, the Company has undertaken several successful capital raising ventures, totalling 
$1,083,556 (after costs).  The purpose of the raises was to strategically advance exploration and acquisition opportunities 
and to supplement working capital. 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than matters referred to in the review of operations, the directors are of the opinion that there have not been any 
significant changes in the state of affairs of the Economic Entity during the year under review. 

Details on the issue of shares and options are described in Note 19 in the Financial Accounts  

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 

The Company intends to further explore and develop the group’s mineral projects and to actively seek new exploration 
and mining opportunities. 

 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

Other than information disclosed elsewhere in this Financial report, information on likely developments in the operations 
of the group and the expected results of those operations in future financial years has not been included in this directors 
report because the directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that to include such information would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the group. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 

The exploration activities of the Economic Entity are conducted in accordance with and controlled principally by Australian 
state and territory government legislation.  The Economic Entity has exploration land holdings in Western Australia and 
the Northern Territory.  The Economic Entity employs a system for reporting environmental incidents, establishing and 
communicating accountability, and rating environmental performance.  During the year, data on environmental 
performance was reported as part of the monthly exploration-reporting regime.  In addition, as required under various 
state and territory legislation, procedures are in place to ensure that the relevant authorities are notified prior to the 
commencement of ground disturbing exploration activities.  The Economic Entity is committed to minimising the impact of 
its activities on the surrounding environment at the same time aiming to maximise the social, environmental and 
economic returns for the local community.  To this end, the environment is a key consideration in our exploration 
activities and during the rehabilitation of disturbed areas. Generally rehabilitation occurs immediately following the 
completion of a particular phase of exploration.  In addition the Economic Entity continues to develop and maintain 
mutually beneficial relationships with the local communities affected by its activities.  Rehabilitation initiatives include the 
extraction of all pegs and restoration of peg lines, plugging of all drill holes and the removal of plastic geological sample 
bags. 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 

Mr Peter Jermyn Executive Chairman Appointed 29/10/2007 

Experience Mr Peter Jermyn has over thirty-eight years of experience in most facets of the 
international exploration and mining industry.  He attended Curtin University 
under a scholarship to the Western Australian Department of Minerals and 
Energy and then became actively involved in the resources arena in Australia.  In 
the mid and late 70’s he spent considerable time in the Middle East developing 
projects and his experience in the oil and gas industry.  Over the past twenty five 
years he has been directly involved in the successful development of 
hydrocarbon projects in Australia, the Middle East, the United States, the former 
USSR, PNG, Indonesia, the Philippines and Columbia in South America.  He has 
substantial expertise in the global resources industry and has worked 
extensively in the exploration for and production of minerals in Australia, 
Canada, Africa, the United States and Indonesia.  Apart from his direct 
exploration and mining knowledge Peter Jermyn has considerable skills and 
experience in the management, financing and corporate sectors of international 
resources companies. 

Interest in shares & options at the 
date of this report 

Mr Jermyn has a relevant interest in 29,729,413 ordinary shares and 15,000,000 
options exercisable at $0.01 on or before 31 July 2013. 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities 

Mooter Media Limited. 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities over the past three years 

Nil 

 

Mr Robert Hyndes Executive Director  (appointed 18/5/2009) 

Experience Mr Hyndes has attended Curtin University in Western Australia and holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce in Economics.  Mr Hyndes has a corporate finance and 
management consulting background with experience in Australia, the United 
Kingdom, the United States and Asia.  He has provided strategy and consulting 
services across a range of industries including technology, mining and resources 
and professional services 

Interest in shares & options at the 
date of this report 

Mr Hyndes has a relevant interest in 3,000,000 ordinary shares and 10,000,000 
options exercisable at $0.01 on or before 2013. 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities 

Vector Resources Ltd; Mamba Minerals Ltd, Charles Street Capital PLC (AIM 
Listed) 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities over the past three years 

Palace Resources Ltd appointed 14 October 2009, resigned 15 June 2010;  Odin 
Energy Ltd appointed 14 October 2009, resigned 15 June 2010, Cape Range 
Wireless Ltd appointed 29 January 2008, resigned 30 May 2008; Red Sky Energy 
appointed 18 February 2009 resigned 11 November 2009 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

Mr Malcolm Macleod (Executive Director) Appointed 18/5/2009 

Experience Mr Macleod has over 40 years experience in the mining and resources industry 
including oil, gas, coal, base metal, gold and diamond exploration in Australia, 
Africa, Europe and Central Asia.  Recent work has included oil and mineral 
exploration including diamond evaluation in Somalia, Uganda, Sierra Leone, 
South Africa, Zimbabwe, Cyprus and Turkmenistan.  Mr Macleod is a member of 
the Australian Institute of Geoscientists, Geological Society of Australia and the 
Petroleum Exploration Society of Australia and has a Bachelor of Science in 
Geology (Honours) from the University of Western Australia. 

Interest in shares & options at the 
date of this report 

Mr Macleod has a relevant interest in 15,000,000 options exercisable at $0.01 on 
or before 31 July 2013. 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities 

Nil 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities over the past three years 

Nil 

 

Mr Graham Libbesson (Non-Executive Director) Appointed 20/9/2011 

Experience Mr Libbesson has over 30 years experience in business, taxation, management 
and mergers and acquisitions, as a Chartered Accountant, business advisor and 
director of various listed and unlisted companies. 

Interest in shares & options at the 
date of this report 

Nil 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities 

Nil 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities over the past three years 

Comops Limited, East Coast Minerals NL, Artemis Resources Limited and 
eServGlobal Limited 

 

Mr Lynton McCreery (Company Secretary) Appointed 18/5/2010 

Experience Mr Lynton McCreery has been Director, Secretary and CFO to a number of ASX 
listed public companies during the past 30 years.  He is also Company Secretary 
of listed companies East Coast Minerals NL and Jaguar Minerals Ltd. 

Interest in shares & options at the 
date of this report 

Mr McCreery has relevant interest in 7,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares, 
2,500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.01 expiring 30 June 2012 and 
2,500,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.01 expiring 31 July 2013. 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities 

Nil 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities over the past three years 

Nil 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (Audited) 

This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each director of Astro Resources NL (“Astro” or the 
Company) 

(i) Remuneration Policy 

The remuneration policy of Astro has been designed to align director and executive objectives with shareholder 
and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term incentives 
based on key performance areas affecting the economic entity’s financial results.  The Board of Astro believes the 
remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best executives and 
directors to run and manage the economic entity, as well as create goal congruence between directors, executives 
and shareholders. 

The board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and senior 
executives of the Company is as follows: 

• The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other 
senior executives, was developed and approved by the board.  

• Non-executive directors receive fees for their services as approved by shareholders. 

• Executive directors can be employed by the Company on a consultancy basis, on board approval, with 
remuneration and terms stipulated in individual consultancy agreements.  

The board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Company’s performance, executive 
performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries.  In 
addition external consultants may be used to provide analysis and advice to ensure the directors and senior 
executives’ remuneration is competitive in the market place. 

The board exercises its discretion in determining remuneration performance of executives.  Given the size and 
nature of the entity the board does not deem it to be realistic to measure performance against defined criteria.  As 
such remuneration and performance are not linked. 

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed.  Shares given 
to directors and executives are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares and the amount 
paid by the director or executive.  Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. 

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities.  The Board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews 
their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability.  Independent external advice is 
sought when required.  Fees for non-executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the economic entity.  
The Directors are not required to hold any shares in the Company under the Constitution of the Company; 
however, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the 
Company. 

The Board believes that it has implemented suitable practices and procedures that are appropriate for an 
organisation of this size and maturity. 



 

 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

17 

 

 

DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

i. Remuneration Committee 

During the year ended 30 June 2011, the economic entity did not have a separately established nomination 
or remuneration committee.  Considering the size of the economic entity, the number of directors and 
economic entity’s early stages of its development, the Boards are of the view that these functions could be 
efficiently performed with full Board participation. 

ii. Company Performance, Shareholder Wealth and Directors and Executives Remuneration 

No relationship exists between shareholder wealth, director and executive remuneration and Company 
performance except for options issued. 

 

(ii) Key Management Personnel 

Name Position Held 

Mr Peter Jermyn Executive Chairman 

Mr Malcolm Macleod Executive Director 

Mr Robert Hyndes Executive Director  

Mr Lynton McCreery Company Secretary  
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

(i) Details of Remuneration 

The remuneration for each director (key management personnel) of the economic entity during the year was as follows: 

Remuneration of key management personnel and the five highest paid executives of the company and the Group 

Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 and 2010 

 2011 2010 

  
Short-
Term  

Post-
Employment 

Share-
based 

Payment Total 
% of 

Compensation 
Short-
Term 

Post-
Employment  

Share-
based 

Payment  Total 
% of 

Compensation 

 
Salary 

and Fees 
Super-

annuation Options  
Granted as 

Options 
Salary and 

Fees 
Super-

annuation Options  
Granted as 

Options 
   $   $   $   $    $   $   $   $   

Non-executive 
directors         

 
        

 

Mr P Jermyn 65,000 - - 65,000 - 60,000 - 51,976 111,976 46.4 
Mr M Macleod 120,000 - - 120,000 - 120,000 - 51,976 171,976 30.2 
Mr R Hyndes 67,500 - - 67,500 - 82,500 - 34,650 117,150 29.6 

 252,500 - - 252,500 - 262,500 - 138,602 401,102  
Other key management 
personnel           

 

Mr L McCreery 48,000 - - 48,000 - 41,066 - 8,663 49,729 17.4 
           

Totals 300,500 - - 300,500 - 303,566 - 147,265 450,831 - 

There were no other Key Management Personnel during the year. 

There were no performance related payments made to the directors or executive during the year and the prior year. 
Short-Term non-monetary benefits: During the financial year the Company paid a premium of $13,320 (being $3,330 per person) in respect of a contract ensuring the 
directors of the Company, the company secretaries and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as a 
director, secretary or executive officer. 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

(ii) Cash Bonuses 

There were no cash bonuses paid during the year. 

(iii) Share-based Payment Bonuses 

There were no new share-based bonuses issued during the year. 

(iv) Options issued as part of remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2011 

There were no options issued as part of remuneration package for the year ended 30 June 2011. 

Details of vesting profiles of options granted as remuneration to each director and executive of the Company in the 
year ending 30 June 2010 is detailed below. 

 
   % Vested  Financial 

  No. of  in the % Forfeited in which 
Name Options Grant Date Year in Year Grant Vests 

Directors  
Peter Jermyn 15,000,000 15 Sept 09 100% - 30 June 2010 
Robert Hyndes 10,000,000 15 Sept 09 100% - 30 June 2010 
Malcolm Macleod 15,000 000 15 Sept 09 100% - 30 June 2010 
Executives  
Lynton McCreery 2,500,000 15 Sept 09 100%  30 June 2010 

On 15 September 2009 Shareholders approved the issue of 15 million options to R Hyndes or his nominees.  Out of 
these he took up 10 million options and allocated the balance to third parties of which L McCreery received 2.5 
million. 

No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.  The options were granted at no cost to the 
recipients. 

 

Analysis of movements in value of options 

 Value of options  Value of options Value of options  
 granted during  Exercised during lapsed during 

Name 2009/10 year the year the year 
 $ $ $ 

Directors    
Peter Jermyn 51,976 - - 
Robert Hyndes 34,650 - - 
Malcolm Macleod 51,976 - - 
Executives    
Lynton McCreery 8,663 - - 
Total 147,265 - - 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

Shares issued on exercise of compensation options 

 No shares were issued on exercise of compensation options during the year 

 Balance at  Exercised Balance at Not Vested  
Name Start of year Other During End of year & Not Vested & 

 1 July 2010 Changes the year 30 June 2011 Exercisable Exercisable 
Directors       
Peter Jermyn 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Robert Hyndes 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Executives       
Lynton McCreery 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 
Total 42,500,000 2,500,000 - 45,000,000 - 45,000,000 
 

 Balance at  Exercised Balance at Not Vested  
Name Start of year Granted as During End of year & Not Vested & 

 1 July 2009 Remuneration the year 30 June 2010 Exercisable Exercisable 
Directors       
Peter Jermyn - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Robert Hyndes - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Executives       
Lynton McCreery - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 
Total - 42,500,000 - 42,500,000 - 42,500,000 
 
Share Holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 Balance at    Balance at 

Name Start of year Granted as On Exercise Other End of year 
 1 July 2010 Compensation Of Options Changes 30 June 2011 

Directors      
Peter Jermyn 29,729,413 - - - 29,729,413 
Robert Hyndes 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - - - - - 
Executives      
Lynton McCreery 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000 
Total 39,729,413 - - - 39,729,413 
 

 Balance at    Balance at 
Name Start of year Granted as On Exercise Other End of year 

 1 July 2009 Compensation Of Options Changes 30 June 2010 
Directors      
Peter Jermyn 19,729,413 - - 10,000,000 29,729,413 
Robert Hyndes - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - - - - - 
Executives      
Lynton McCreery - - - 7,000,000 7,000,000 
Total 19,729,413  - 20,000,000 39,729,413 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

(v) Employment Contracts of Directors and Senior Executives 

Mr P Jermyn provides services to the Company through his controlled entity, Capital Alliance Pty Ltd. 

Mr R Hyndes provides services to the company through his controlled entity, Splendour Investments Pty Ltd. 

Remuneration for their services is detailed in note (iii) above. 

 

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

During the financial year, 14 meetings of directors were held including meetings in relation to Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee activities.  Attendances by each director during the year were as follows: 

Board Meetings 
 

Director Attended Held 
Mr Peter Jermyn 14 14 
Mr Malcolm Macleod 14 14 
Mr Robert Hyndes 14 14 

 

INDEMNIFYING OFFICERS OR AUDITOR 

During the financial year the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Company, the 
Company Secretaries and all executive officers of the Company and of any related body corporate against a liability 
incurred as a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Company 
has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to 
indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an 
officer or auditor.  The contract of insurance prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of the 
premium. 

 

OPTIONS 

At the date of this Report the Company had on issue the following listed and unlisted options over fully paid ordinary 
shares. 

(i) Listed 

Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price 
319,163,222 30/11/2012 Nil $0.05 

 

During the year and up to the date of this Report, no options have been issued, no options have been exercised and 
no options lapsed.  Option holders have no rights to participate in an issue of shares unless they convert their 
options.  The names of all the persons who currently hold options are entered on a Register maintained for the 
Company by Link Market Services Limited.  In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, this Register may be 
inspected free of charge. 

(ii) Other Unlisted 

Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price 
11,000,000 31/03/2012 Nil $0.002 
13,565,356 30/04/2012 Nil $0.250 
130,00,000 30/06/2012 Nil $0.010 
47,500,000 31/07/2013 Nil $0.010 
5,500,000 07/10/2012 Nil $0.020 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

23 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

 

 

DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

Details on the issue, exercising and the expiring of options are disclosed in Note 19 in the Financial Accounts.  
Option holders have no rights to participate in an issue of shares unless they convert their options.  The names of 
all the persons who currently hold options are entered on a Register maintained by the Company.  In accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, this Register may be inspected free of charge. 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE 

Subsequent to the financial year-end the following material events occurred; 

On the 13 July 2011, the Company extended its exclusivity over the Scott Coastal Plain Mineral Sands Project held by 
Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd (GWM). 

On the 2 August 2011, the Company announced it had paid a $150,000 option fee for the rights to acquire (subject to a 45 
day due diligence period), 80% of the issued share capital of GWM for an agreed cash and share consideration (as detailed 
below). 

On the 29 August 2011, the Company announced the granting of Lower Smoke Creek Exploration Licence (E80/4120) 
adjoins the Argyle Diamond Mine tenement area in the Kimberley Region of Western Australia.  

On the 20 September 2011, the Company announced the completion of the acquisition an 80% equity interest in GWM.  
The final terms of the acquisition; 

Cash Consideration  1. $500,000 payable on completion, $500,000 payable in 6 months from completion or 
upon the cumulative raising of $2million by the Company.2 

2. $100,000 to be paid within 21 days after the date of Ministerial approval of the 
conversion of E70/2372 to a mining lease; and 

3. $250,000 shall be paid within 21 days of a decision being made by the Company to 
mine any minerals from any Tenement. 

Share Consideration  1. 80million fully paid ordinary shares (Shares) issued on completion. 120milion shares 
subject to shareholder approval at the Company’s AGM to be held no later than 30 
November 2011.  In the unlikely event that shareholders do not approve the issue of 
the 120million shares to the Vendors, the Vendors will be entitled to a cash-equivalent 
based on 5 day VWOP of the share price immediately prior to completion.  The 
200million Shares are to be held in escrow for 12 months.  

2. 150million Shares shall be issued to the Seller within 21 days after the date of 
Ministerial approval of E70/2372 to a mining lease; and 

3. 100million Shares shall be issued to Seller within 21 days of a decision being made by 
the Company to mine any minerals from any Tenement within the Project. 

Net Revenue Royalty The Vendor is to retain a 1.5% per cent net revenue royalty on any minerals produced from 
the project. 

 

                                                           
2 The Vendor is to retain security over the shares of GWM until the second tranche of $500,000 is paid. 
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DIRECTORS REPORT (CONT.) 

 

Board Appointment 

On 20 September 2011, Mr. Graham Libbesson was appointed to the Board, as a non-executive director.  Graham has over 
30 years experience in business, taxation, management and mergers and acquisitions, as a Chartered Accountant, business 
advisor and director of various listed and unlisted companies. 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Astro support 
and have adhered to the principles of Corporate Governance.  The Company’s corporate governance statement is 
contained in the Corporate Governance section of the Financial Report. 

 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

During the year, Stantons International has not performed any other services in addition to their statutory duties.  Fees 
paid or payable for these services in relation to the audit and review of the company’s financial report was $23,939 

The Directors are satisfied that the provision of services is compatible with the general standard of independence for the 
auditor as imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

Stantons International has not yet performed any other services in addition to the statutory duties.  Fees accrued for these 
services in relation to the audit of the company’s financial report were $16,000. 

 

AUDITORS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor’s independence declaration, as required under Section 307C or the Corporations Act 2001, for the year ended 
30 June 2011, has been received and can be found on page 25 of the director’s report. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

   

      

Mr Peter Jermyn 
Chairman 

Dated 28 September 2011 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

      Consolidated 

   2011 2010 

  Notes $ $ 

Continuing Operations    

Finance revenue 6(i) 115,791 37,173 

Other income 6(ii) 51,688 36,984 

  167,479 74,157 
Exploration expenditure 
(impaired)  (197,643) (36,485) 

Employee options expense  - (155,928) 

Other expenses 6 (iv) (945,318) (926,182) 

Finance costs  - - 
Loss from continuing operations 
before income tax  (975,482) (1,044,438) 

Income tax expense  - - 
Loss from continuing operations 
after tax   (975,482) (1,044,438) 

Other Comprehensive Income  - - 
Total Comprehensive( Loss) 
attributable to the members of 
Astro Resources NL  (975,482) (1,044,438) 

Earnings per share  Cents Cents 
Basic loss per share for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity 
holders 8 (0.059) (0.11) 
Diluted loss per share for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity 
holders 8 (0.059) (0.11) 

 

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial 
statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

As at 30 June 2011 

     Consolidated 

  2011 2010 

 Notes $ $ 

Assets     

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 1,811,062 2,160,842 

Receivables 10 149,266 56,227 

Inventories 11 4,000 4,000 

Other current assets 12 13,370 - 

Investments Held for Trading 13 21,000 7,200 

Total Current Assets  
 

1,998,698 2,228,269 

Non-Current Assets    

Exploration expenditure 14 1,995,118 1,717,392 

Plant and Equipment 15 9,412 13,085 

Total Non-Current Assets  2,004,530 1,730,477 

Total Assets   4,003,228 3,958,746 

Liabilities    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 17 508,751 594,343 

Total Current Liabilities  508,751 594,343 

Non-Current Liabilities  - - 

Total Liabilities  508,751 594,343 

Net Assets  3,494,477 3,364,403 

Equity    

Issued capital 19 5,843,054 4,759,498 

Reserves 20 1,486,652 1,464,652 

Accumulated losses  (3,835,229) (2,859,747) 

Total Equity  3,494,477 3,364,403 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial 
statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

       Consolidated 

    2011 2010 

  Notes $ $ 
Cash flows from operating 
activities     
Payments in the course of 
operation  (999,155) (977,348) 

Sundry income  14,340 38,571 

Interest received  109,293 21,357 

Interest paid  - - 

Exploration expenditure expensed  (147,626) (36,484) 
Net cash (used in)/provided by 
operating activities 23(a) (1,023,148) (953,904) 
Cash flows from investing 
activities     

Exploration expenditure capitalised  (331,607) (656,785) 

Proceeds from disposal of prospect  - 110,000 

Plant and Equipment purchases  (9,113) (13,085) 
Net cash provided by (used 
in)/provided by investing activities  (340,720) (559,870) 
Cash flows from financing 
activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,014,088 3,576,019 

Proceeds from convertible note  - - 
Net cash (used in) provided by 
financing activities  1,014,088 3,576,019 
Net increase / decrease in cash 
held  (349,780) 2,062,245 
Cash at the beginning of the 
financial year  2,160,842 98,597 
Cash at the end of the financial 
year 9 1,811,062 2,160,842 

 

Consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2011  

 Consolidated 

 
Ordinary 

Shares Reserves 
Accumulated 

Losses Total Equity 

 $ $ $ $ 
 
At 1 July 2010 4,759,498 1,464,652 (2,859,747) 3,364,403 

Loss for the period - - (975,482) (975,482) 

Other comprehensive income - - - - 
Comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year - - (975,482) (975,482) 
 
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners     

Shares issued 1,130,000 - - 1,130,000 

Option premium reserve - - - - 

Transaction costs on share issue (46,444) - - (46,444) 

Share-based payment  22,000  22,000 

At 30 June 2011 5,843,054 1,486,652 (3,835,229) 3,494,477 

     
 
At 1 July 2009 45,709,761 1,621,452 (47,525,067) (193,854) 

Loss for the period - - (1,044,438) (1,044,438) 

Other comprehensive income - -  - - 
Comprehensive income/(loss) for 
the year - -  (1,044,438) (1,044,438) 
 
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners     

Shares issued 4,458,200 - - 4,458,200 

Option premium reserve 364,977 (364,977) - - 

Transaction costs on share issue (63,682)  - - (63,682) 

Share-based payment - 208,177 - 208,177 

Share reconstruction / consolidation (45,709,758) - 45,709,758 - 

At 30 June 2010 4,759,498 1,464,652 (2,859,747) 3,364,403 
 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the financial 
statements



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

30 

 

 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

For the year ended 30 June 2011 

 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(a) Reporting entity 

Astro Resources NL (the “Company”) is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are 
publicly traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.  The Company’s registered office is Ground Floor, 3 
Richardson Street, West Perth WA 6005. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2011 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).  The nature of the operations and principal 
activities of the Group are described in the Directors’ Report. 

(b) Statement of compliance 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.  The consolidated financial report of the Group also 
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) and interpretations adopted by the International 
Accounting Standards Board.  The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 September 
2011. 

(c) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except where stated, does 
not take into account changing money values or fair valuations of non-current assets. 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency and the functional currency of the majority of the Group. 

 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  
Refer to note 4 (t) for a discussion of critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies, and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty. 
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3. GOING CONCERN 

At 30 June 2011, the consolidated entity had net assets of $3,494,477, and had incurred a net loss of $(975,482) for the 
year then ended, with a cash and cash equivalents balance of $1,811,062 and a net current liability position of $508,751.  
The consolidated entity’s minimum exploration expenditure for the next 12 months is $157,580.  The funding of 
exploration expenditure in excess of the Company’s current cash resources will be dependent upon further equity funding 
and / or entering into joint ventures. 

The directors have prepared cash flow forecasts that indicate that the consolidated entity and the parent entity will have 
cash surpluses for a period of at least 12 months from the date of this report, dependent on the proceeds from a private 
placement.  

Based on the cash flow forecasts and equity funding described above, the directors are satisfied that, the going concern 
basis of preparation is appropriate.  The financial report has therefore been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the 
ordinary course of business. 

Should the consolidated entity and the parent entity be unable to continue as going concerns, they may be required to 
realise their assets and extinguish their liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ 
from those stated in the financial statements. 

These financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded 
asset amounts or the amounts or classification of liabilities and appropriate disclosures that may be necessary should the 
consolidated entity and the parent be unable to continue as a going concern. 

The Directors acknowledge that the Company will need to adopt further strategies to ensure that funding is maintained.  
This includes, but is not limited to further costs reduction strategies, further capital or converting loans funding seeking, 
sale / relinquishment or joint venture contributions on areas of interest held, and seeking other prospective projects. 

 

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities. 

(a) Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Astro Resources NL and its subsidiaries 
as at 30 June each year (the “Group”). 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from their activities.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether a group controls another entity. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies.  In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and 
transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been 
eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

Investments in subsidiaries held by Astro are accounted for at cost in the separate financial statements of the 
parent entity less any impairment charges.  Dividends received from subsidiaries are recorded as a component of 
other revenues in the separate income statement of the parent entity, and do not impact the recorded cost of the 
investment.  Upon receipt of dividend payments from subsidiaries, the parent will assess whether any indicators of 
impairment of the carrying value of the investment in the subsidiary exist.  Where such indicators exist, to the 
extent that the carrying value of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method accounting.  The acquisition method 
accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are measured at the acquisition date fair values (refer to Business combination note). 

The difference between the above items and the fair value of the consideration (including the fair value of any pre-
existing investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or a discount on acquisition. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. 

Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of comprehensive income 
and are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the equity of 
the owners of the parent. 

(b) Business combinations 

Business combinations are account for using the acquisition method.  The consideration transferred in a business 
combination shall be measured at fair value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values 
of the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquire 
and the equity issued by the acquirer, and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquire.  For each 
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at 
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s 
operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or 
liability will be recognised in accordance with AASB 139 either in profit or loss or in other comprehensive income.  If 
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured. 

(c) Foreign currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at 
the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 

All differences in the financial report are taken to the income statement. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates 
at the date when the fair value was determined. 

(d) Revenue 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. 

Finance Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

(e) Finance costs 

Financing costs comprise interest payable on borrowings.  Interest is recognised as an expense when incurred. 

(f) Leases 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

(g) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. 

(h) Other receivables 

Other receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable.  Bad 
debts are written off when identified. 

Receivables from other entities are recognised and earned carried at nominal amount due.  Interest is taken up as 
income on an accrual basis. 

(i) Inventories 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

(j) Impairment of assets 

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any 
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated 
to be close to its fair value.  In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs.  When the carrying amount of an asset of a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset or cash generating unit is impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset.  Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at re-valued amount (in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case 
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in the income 
statement unless the asset is carried at re-valued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised 
carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

(k) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period.  The Group has not derived taxable 
income in either the current or previous periods. 

Deferred income tax is determined using the balance sheet method which calculates temporary differences on the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that 
it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred asset to be recovered. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income 
statement. 

(l) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:  

(i) where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item as applicable;  and 

(ii) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet. 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

35 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

 

 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are 
classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the 
taxation authority. 

(m) Investments 

All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and including 
acquisition charges associated with the investment. 

After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, are measured at 
fair value.  Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income statement. 

Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is included in the income statement. 

For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to 
stock exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  For the available-for-
sale unlisted shares included in Note 13, it is considered that the appropriate value is the market value. 

For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the current market 
value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows of 
the underlying net asset base of the investment.   

Purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by 
regulation or convention in the market place are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group commits 
to purchase the asset.  

(n) Exploration 

Exploration expenditure is capitalised for each separate area of interest where rights to tenure are current and: 

(i) such costs are expected to be recovered through successful development and exploitation or by sale;  
or 

(ii) where activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and 
significant operations in relation to the area are continuing.  

Ultimate recoupment of exploration expenditure carried forward is dependent on successful development and 
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas.  

The carrying values of expenditures carried forward are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date when the 
facts, events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  Accumulated 
expenditures are written off to the income statement to the extent to which they are considered to be impaired. 



 

 

 
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

 
 

Astro Resources NL and Controlled Entities  |  Annual Report 2011 

36 

 

 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

The key points that are considered in this review include: 

(i) data review and field visits undertaken during the year 

(ii) the estimated market value of assets at the review date 

(iii) independent valuations of underlying assets that may be available 

(iv) strategic direction of the Company’s exploration activities. 

Information used in the review process is rigorously tested to externally available information as appropriate. 

(o) Trade and other payables  

Trade and other payables are stated at cost.  These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the group prior to the end of the financial year which are unpaid.  These amounts are unsecured and are usually 
paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings  

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised at cost.  After initial recognition interest-bearing borrowings are stated 
at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value, if any, being recognised in the income 
statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis. 

Convertible notes are stated at their amortised cost.  On conversion to equity, the amortised cost amount is 
recorded in equity. 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the liability. 

(r) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares and 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

(s) Share based payment transactions 

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees, Directors, officers or consultants of the Company 
or an associated body corporate and such other persons nominated by the Directors under the Astro Resources NL 
2005 Share Option Plan which allows participants to acquire shares of the Company. 

The fair value of options granted is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity.  The fair 
value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the participants become unconditionally 
entitled to the options.  The fair value of the options granted is measured using the Black Scholes option pricing 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  The amount 
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest at each 
balance sheet date. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

(t) Accounting estimates and judgements 

The Directors discussed the development, selection and disclosure of the Company’s critical accounting policies and 
estimates.  The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets is set out in Note 4 (xiv).  The application of this 
policy requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in 
particular, the assessment of whether economic quantities of reserves have been found.  Any such estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available.  If, after having capitalised expenditure under the 
policy, the Group concludes that it is unlikely to recover the expenditure by future exploitation or sale, then the 
relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the income statement.   

The carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets as at 30 June 2011 is $1,995,118 (2010: $1,717,392). 

(u) Interests in joint ventures 

Reimbursement of the joint venture operator’s costs 

In many cases, the entity also incurs certain general overhead expenses in carrying out activities on behalf of the 
joint venture.  As these costs can often not be specifically identified, joint venture agreements allow the operator 
to recover the general overhead expenses incurred by charging an overhead fee that is based on a fixed percentage 
of the total costs incurred for the year, often in the form of a management fee.  Although the purpose of this 
recharge is very similar to the reimbursement of direct costs, the entity is not acting as an agent in this case.  
Therefore, the general overhead expenses and the overhead fee are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income as an expense and income respectively. 

Jointly controlled assets 

A jointly controlled asset involves joint control and offers joint ownership by the Consolidated Entity and other 
venturers of assets contributed to or acquired for the purpose of the joint venture, without the formation of a 
corporation, partnership or other entity.  Where the Consolidated Entity’s activities are conducted through jointly 
controlled assets, the Consolidated Entity recognises its share of the jointly controlled assets and liabilities it has 
incurred, its share of liabilities incurred jointly with other venturers, related revenue and operating costs in the 
financial statements and a share of their production. 

(v) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

The following new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the financial year beginning 1 July 
2010. 

• AASB 2009-5 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (AASB 5, 8, 101, 107, 117, 118, 136,  and 139) 

• AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project (AASB 3, 7, 121, 128, 131, 132 and 139) 

• AASB Interpretation 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments and AASB 2009-13 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Interpretation 19. 
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

 

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact in the current period or any prior period and is unlikely to 
affect future periods. 

(w) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations that are not yet mandatory 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 
2011 reporting periods.  The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set 
out below. 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) (effective from 1 January 2013) 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and de-recognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities.  The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is 
available for early adoption.  When adopted, the standard is not expected to impact on the Group’s 
accounting for financial assets as it does not have any available for sale assets other than equity 
investments.  There will be no impact on the group's accounting for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value 
through profit or loss and the group does not have any such liabilities.  The Group has decided not to 
early adopt AASB 9. 

(ii) Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards (effective from 1 January 2011) 

In December 2009 the AASB issued a revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.  It is effective for 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 and must be applied retrospectively.  The 
amendment clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party.  The Group will apply the 
amended standard from 1 July 2011.  When the amendments are applied, the Group will need to 
disclose any transactions between its subsidiaries and its associates.  However, there will be no 
impact on any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

(iii) AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements (effective from 1 July 
2013) 

On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised differential reporting framework in 
Australia.  Under this framework, a two-tier differential reporting regime applies to all entities that 
prepare general purpose financial statements.  Astro Resources NL listed on the ASX and is not 
eligible to adopt the new Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  The 
two standards will therefore have no impact on the financial statements of the entity. 
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Identification of reportable segments 

Operating Segments 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors. 

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engage in business activities from which it may earn revenue and 
incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.  
All operating segment results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Board of Directors to make decisions about resources 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete financial information is available. 

From July 1 2010, operating segments are identified and segment information disclosed on the basis of internal reports 
that are provided to, or revised by, the Company’s chief operating decision maker which, for the Company, is the Board of 
Directors. 

The operating segments are identified by management based on the type of exploration being conducted by the Group.  
Discrete financial information about each of these operating businesses is reported to the Board of Directors on at least a 
quarterly basis. 

The Group operates in three operating segments being diamond, uranium and gold exploration industry in one 
geographical location, being Australia.  Therefore segment information for 2010 has been restated for comparison. 

Types of Products and Services 

Diamond exploration. 

The Company is currently conducting exploration upon tenements considered prospective for diamonds.  No income has 
been derived from the recovery of diamonds in year ending 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). 

Uranium exploration. 

The Company is currently conducting exploration upon tenements considered prospective for uranium.  No income has 
been derived from the recovery of uranium in year ending 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). 

Gold exploration. 

The Company is currently conducting exploration upon tenements considered prospective for gold.  Exploration activities 
are currently limited to aerial exploration due to the application status of the Tenements.  No income has been derived 
from the recovery of gold in year ending 30 June 2011 (2010: Nil). 
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont.) 

 

Segment Information 

The segment information provided to the Board of Directors for the reportable segments for the year ended 30 June 2011 
is as follows: 

 Continuing Operations Total 
 Diamond Uranium Gold Unallocated  
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2011      
Revenue      

Other revenues from external 
customers - - - 167,479 167,479 

Inter-segment revenue - - - - - 
Total segment revenue - - - 167,479 167,479 
      
Result      
Segment result (95,325) (313) (5,052) (874,792) (975,482) 

(Loss) before income tax and non 
controlling interests - - - - - 

Income tax expense - - - - - 
Net (loss) for the year as Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (95,325) (313) (5,052) (874,792) (975,482) 

      
Other segment information      
Interest Revenue - - - 115,791 115,791 
Depreciation - - - (10,575) (10,575) 
      
Assets and Liabilities      
Segment assets      
- Exploration Expenditure 402,853 732,162 839,518 20,585 1,995,118 
- Inventories 4,000 - - - 4,000 

 406,853 732,162 839,518 20,585 1,999,118 
Unallocated assets      
- Investments Held for Trading - - - 21,000 21,000 
- Cash and cash equivalents - - - 1,811,062 1,811,062 
- Trade and other receivables - 8,145 760 153,731 162,636 
- Plant and Equipment - - - 9,412 9,412 

 - 8,145 760 1,995,205 2,004,110 
Total assets as per the Statement 
of Financial Position 406,853 740,307 840,278 2,015,790 4,003,228 
      
Segment liabilities      
Unallocated liabilities      
- Trade and other Payables 200 5,483 200,000 303,068 508,751 

Total liabilities as per the Statement 
of Financial Position 200 5,483 200,000 303,068 508,751 
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont.) 

 Continuing Operations Total 
 Diamond Uranium Gold Unallocated  
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Year ended 30 June 2010 

 
     

Revenue      
Other revenues from external 
customers - - - 74,157 74,157 

Inter-segment revenue - - - - - 
Total segment revenue - - - 74,157 74,157 
      
Result      
Segment result (63,190) - - (981,248) (1,044,438) 

(Loss) before income tax and non 
controlling interests - - - - - 

Income tax expense - - - - - 
Net (loss) for the year as Statement 
of Comprehensive Income (63,190) - - (981,248) (1,044,438) 

      
Other segment information      
Interest Revenue - - - 37,173 37,173 
Depreciation - - - (560) (560) 

      
Assets and Liabilities      
Segment assets      
- Exploration Expenditure 390,138 525,866 801,388 - 1,717,392 
- Inventories 4,000 - - - 4,000 

 394,138 525,866 801,388 - 1,721,392 
Unallocated assets      
- Investments held for trading - - - 7,200 7,200 
- Cash and cash equivalents - - - 2,160,842 2,160,842 
- Trade and other receivables - - - 56,227 56,227 
- Plant and Equipment - - - 13,085 13,085 

 - - - 2,237,354 2,237,354 
Total assets as per the Statement 
of Financial Position 394,138 525,866 801,388 2,237,354 3,958,746 

      
Segment liabilities      
Unallocated liabilities      
- Trade and other Payables - - - 594,343 594,343 
Total liabilities as per the 
Statement of Financial Position - - - 594,343 594,343 
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6. REVENUE AND EXPENSES 

Loss before income tax expense includes the following revenues and expenses whose disclosure is relevant in explaining 
the performance of the entity. 

    Consolidated 
  2011 2010 
  $ $ 
(i) Finance revenue   
  Interest: 115,791 37,173 
Total finance revenue  115,791 37,173 
       
(ii) Other income    
  Sundry income 51,688 36,984 
Total other income  51,688 36,984 
       
(iii) Finance costs    
  Borrowing costs   
  Other - - 
Total finance costs - - 
       
(iv) Other expenses    
  Increase in fair value of Investments 13,800 (4,800) 
 Directors Consultants fees (192,500) (192,500) 
 Consultants fees (212,839) (270,467) 
 Administration expenses  (519,265) (425,866) 
 Auditors remuneration   
 - Audit services (23,939) (32,049) 
 Depreciation (10,575) (560) 
Total other expenses (945,318) (926,182) 
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7. TAXATION 

    Consolidated 
  2011 2010 
  $ $ 
Income tax expense   
Prima facie income tax benefit calculated at 30% 
(2010: 30%) on the loss (292,644) (313,331) 
Decrease in income tax benefit due to:   
Deferred tax asset and liabilities not recognised 286,990 311,891 
Diminution of investment 720 1,440 
Revaluation of investment (4,860)  
Other permanent differences 9,794 - 
Income tax expense on loss - - 
Movement in deferred tax liability - - 
Deferred tax assets arising from tax losses not 
brought to account at balance date as realisation of 
the benefit is not regarded as probable - - 
Income tax expense / (benefit) on profit / (loss) from 
operating activity - - 

 

Net Deferred tax assets not brought to account, the benefits of which will only be realised if the conditions 
for deductibility occur. 

Temporary difference 73,874 25,955 
Tax losses 12,533,114 12,222,421 
Capital losses 61,200 61,200 
Capitalised exploration expenditure (242,126) (184,963) 
 12,426,062 12,124,613 

 

(a) This deferred tax asset will only be obtained if: 

(i) Future assessable income is derived of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit; and 

(ii) The conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with and no 
changes in the tax legislation adversely affect the company in realising the benefit. 

(iii) There are no deferred tax liabilities as at 30 June 2011. 

 

8. EARNINGS / LOSS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share 

The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2011 was based on the consolidated loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders of $(975,482) (year ended 30 June 2010: loss $(1,044,438) consolidated) and a 
weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year ended 30 June 2011 of 1,654,707,175 (year ended 30 June 
2010: 919,732,388) 

Diluted earnings per share 

Share options are not considered dilutive as the conversion of options to ordinary shares will result in a decrease in the 
net loss per share. 
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

    Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
     
Cash at bank 1,811,062 2,160,842 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in Note 
22. 

 

10. RECEIVABLES 

Current   
Other debtors 149,266 56,227 

 

(a) Other debtors mainly represented GST recoverable $38,174, accrued interest income $20,406, rental bonds 
$78,213 and other debtors $12,473.  No credit term was considered as the Group and the Company have 
not yet commenced trading during the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2011. 

(b) No receivables are foreign currency receivables during the year (2010: Nil). 

(c) None of the Company and Group’s receivables are past due (2010: Nil).  The aging of the Company and 
Group’s receivables was not past due (2010: Nil).  Based on historic default rates, the Group believes that no 
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of receivables not past due. 

 

11. INVENTORIES 

Uncut Diamonds - at cost 4,000 4,000 
 

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

Prepayments 13,370 - 
 

13. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING 

Non-Current   
Listed shares at fair value 21,000 7,200 

The Group’s and the Company’s equity investments are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  For such investments 
classified as available-for-sale, a 20 percent increase in the ASX 200 at the reporting date would have increased equity by 
$4,200 after tax (2010: an increase of $1,440); an equal change in the opposite direction would have decreased equity by 
$4,200 after tax (2010: a decrease of $1,440).  The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2010. 
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14. EXPLORATION 

    Consolidated 
  2011 2010 
  $ $ 

Non-Current   
Areas in exploration phase   
At cost 1,995,118 1,717,392 

Movement of exploration 

Cost brought forward 1,717,392 300,074 
Exploration expenditure capitalised during the year (i) 328,983 1,417,318 
Exploration expenditure impaired during the year (51,257) - 
 1,995,118 1,717,392 

 

(i)  Included in capitalised exploration costs is the $660,000 cost of the investment in the North Doolgunna Joint Venture 
and $375,000 allocated to tenement acquisition on the acquisition of Macphee Resources Pty Ltd. 

The recoverability of the capitalisation of exploration expenditure is dependent upon successful exploration by the 
Company in future years. 

 

15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Opening Balance 13,085 - 
Additions 6,902 13,645 
Less Depreciation (10,575) (560) 
Closing Balance 9,412 13,085 

 

Cost 20,547 13,645 
Accumulated Depreciation (11,135) (560) 
Balance as at 30 June 9,412 13,085 

 

16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Non-Current   
Unlisted shares at cost   

Controlled Entity at cost - - 
Less: allowances for impairment - - 
Other entity at cost - 227,158 
Less: Allowances for impairment - (227,158) 

 - - 
 

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Current   
Trade creditors and accruals 508,751 594,343 
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont.) 

 

(a) Included in accruals is $200,000 being the value of the contingent consideration of the issue of 20M shares 
for the acquisition of Macphee Resources Pty Ltd (See Note 28). 

(b) In the prior year (2010) accruals also included $170,000 being the balance of the consideration payable on 
the acquisition of North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd on the granting of the exploration licenses.  Settlement of 
this is by way of: 

 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Payment of Cash - 100,000 
Issue of 5M Shares at value of $0.01 - 50,000 
Issue of 5M Options at value of $0.004 - 20,000 
 - 170,000 

 

(c) Trade creditors and accruals of $173,752 are non-interest bearing. 

(d) No foreign currency trade and other payable for the years ended 30 June 2011 and 2010. 

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payable is disclosed in Note 22. 

 

18. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  

There are no outstanding Financial liabilities as at 30 June 2011.  Those liabilities that were outstanding in the prior year 
were settled by way of share and option issues. 

 

19. SHARE CAPITAL 

    Consolidated 
  2011 2010 
Ordinary shares $ $ 
Issued and fully paid 5,843,054 4,759,498 
   
Ordinary shares Number Number 
Issued and fully paid 1,730,034,572 1,509,534,572 

 

Terms and Conditions of Ordinary Shares: 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per 
share at shareholders meetings.  In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary shareholders rank after all other 
shareholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of liquidation. 
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SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

Shares: 

Date  Details Number $ 
01/07/2010 Opening Balance 1,509,534,572 4,759,498 
07/10/2010 Issue re acquisition of North Doolgunna 5,500,000 55,000 
02/11/2010 Placement 210,000,000 1,050,000 
17/11/2010 Acquisition of tenement 5,000,000 25,000 
30/06/2011 Transaction costs on share issues - (46,444) 

  1,730,034,572 5,843,054 
 

Options: 

a) Issued, exercised and expired. 

   Exercise Expiry 
Options Details Number Price Date 

07/10/2010 Issue re acquisition of North Doolgunna 5,500,000 0.02  07/10/2012 
  5,500,000   
b) Options on issue. 

(i) 13,565,356 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.25 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the Company for each option.  Options not exercised by 
30 April 2012 will lapse. 

(ii) 319,163,322 listed options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.05 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not exercised by 
30 November 2012 will lapse. 

(iii) 250,000 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.04 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not exercised by 
19 October 2011 will lapse. 

(iv) 130,000,000 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.01 which, if exercised, will 
entitle the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not 
exercised by 30 June 2012 will lapse. 

(v) 47,500,000 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.01 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not exercised by 
31 July 2013 will lapse. 

(vi) 11,000,000 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.02 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not exercised by 
31 March 2012 will lapse. 

(vii) 5,500,000 unlisted options are on issue at an exercise price of A$0.02 which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to one fully paid share in the company for each option.  Options not exercised by 7 
October 2012 will lapse. 
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SHARE CAPITAL (Cont.) 

 

    Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
  No. of options   No. of options  
   
Options on issue at 30 June 526,978,678 521,478,678 

 

Employee Share Options 

250,000 unlisted employee share options are on issue at an exercise price of $0.04 per option.  During the period no 
employee share options lapsed (2010: Nil) and cancelled due to the resignation of the employees. 

 

20. RESERVES 

    Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Option Reserve 1,255,912 1,255,912 
Share based payment reserve 230,740 208,740 
 1,486,652 1,464,652 

 

Movement in reserves 

Option Premium Reserve   
At 1 July 2010 1,255,912 1,620,889 
Transfer of option premium on options that expired 23 
December 2009 - (364,977) 
 1,255,912 1,255,912 
Share-based payment reserve   
At 1 July 2010 208,740 563 
5,500,000 options issued on acquisition of tenement 22,000 - 
47,500,000 options issued to employees and consultants  - 164,177 
11,000,000 options issued on the acquisition of North 
Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd - 44,000 
At 30 June 2011 230,740 208,740 

 

Nature and purpose of reserve 

Option reserve 

Amounts contributed for the future right to acquire shares at a pre-determined price. 

Share-based payment reserve 

The share based payment reserve represents the accumulated amortisation of the fair value of services provided with 
respect to employee share options issued.  Details of the share option plan are outlined in Note 21. 
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21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

 

Share based payments 

At the 2005 annual general meeting, the Company established the Astro Resources NL 2005 Share Option Plan which 
allows employees, Directors, officers or consultants of the Company or an associated body corporate and such other 
persons nominated by the Directors to participate in the plan. 

Grants of options made under this Plan during a prior year were as follows: 

On 19 October 2006, 11,600,000 options were issued at an exercise price of $0.04.  Option-holders must remain eligible 
(which would usually mean remaining eligible persons although the Board has some discretion to allow continued 
participation in the event of an eligible person’s death, mental incapacity, ill health, accident or redundancy) to participate 
in the plan throughout the two (2) year vesting period and can be exercised at any time following vesting and up to 19 
October 2011.  All options, if exercised, will be settled by physical delivery of the shares. 

The number and weighted average exercise price of share options is as follows: 

 2011 2010 
 Weighted  Weighted  
 average  average  
 exercise Number of exercise Number of 
 price options price options 
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 0.04 250,000 0.04 250,000 
Write off lapsed employee options 0.04 250,000 - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year - - 0.04 250,000 
Exercisable at the end of the year - 250,000 - 250,000 

 

The options outstanding at 30 June 2011 have an exercise price of $0.04 and a remaining contractual life of 0.35 years. 

 

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company and Group have exposure to the following risks form their use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

This note presents information about the Company’s and Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objective, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital and quantitative disclosures. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework.  The Board is 
responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies.  

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company and Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s and the Group’s activities.  The 
Company and Group, through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and 
constructive control environment. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

The Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s and Group’s risk management policies 
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the 
Company and Group. 

(a) Capital risk management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it 
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits of other stockholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.   

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2010. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, deposits in respect of bank guarantee and 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses as 
disclosed in notes 18 and 19 respectively.  None of the Group’s entities are subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. 

Gearing ratio 

The Board reviews the capital structure on annual basis.  As a part of this review the Board considers the cost of 
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.  High gearing ratio is expected as the Group is in its 
development stage and more debts are required to fund the operation and development activities. 

 

    Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 1,811,062 2,160,842 
Net debt 1,811,062 2,160,842 
   
Equity (i) 3,494,477 (3,364,403) 
Net debt to equity ratio 52% 64% 

Equity includes all capital and reserves 

(b) Categories of financial instruments 

  Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 1,811,062 2,160,842 
Receivables 149,266 56,227 
Available-for-sale financial assets 21,000 7,200 
Deposits - - 
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables 508,751 594,343 

The carrying amount reflected above represents the Company’s and the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
for such loans and receivables. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
will affect the Group’s income or the value of holdings of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange risk as there are effectively no foreign currency deals 
outstanding (2010: Nil).  

Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in Australia.  To minimise the effects of reducing interest income that the 
Group may receive, the Board plans to invest the excess cash position in the near future to avoid any adverse 
effects of future interest rates.  As the Company and Group plan to invest the large cash balances, there is no 
written internal policy on interest rate management. 

Interest rate risks are required to be presented by way of sensitivity analysis in accordance with AASB 7; these 
show the effects of changes in the market interest rates on interest income.  The interest rate sensitivity analysis is 
based on the following assumptions: 

Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income of non-derivative variable interest financial instruments 
and are based on both historic trends and the perceived market interest to 30 June 2011. 

The Group have determined that the effects of changes in these interest rates based upon forward looking rates 
would not have a material effect on the Company and Group for 2011 or 2010.  Therefore, no Group interest rate 
sensitivity analysis is disclosed as interest rate risk is not considered to have a material impact on profit / loss or 
equity for both years 2010 and 2011. 

(d) Other market price risk 

Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities held.  Management of the Group monitors the mix 
of debt and equity securities in its investment portfolio based on market indices.   

Material investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buy and sell decisions are 
approved by the Board. 

The primary goal of the Group’s investment strategy is to maximise investment returns.  The Group does not enter 
into commodity contracts. 

(e) Credit risk 

Trade and other receivables 

Please refer to Note 10 for details. 

Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing in liquid listed securities and unlisted securities.  Please 
refer to Notes 13 and 16 for details. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

Financial Assets 

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates: 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Cash at bank 0.5% 47,534 458,549 
Deposit in respect of bank  1,763,528 1,702,294 
Receivables* 149,266 56,227 

 

* Amounts are due in less than 6 months 

(f) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The Group 
has issued during the year a shares and options which has raised $1,050,000 as detailed in Note 19; however 
should there be a risk of a non-material nature then the Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash 
flows. 

 Weighted      
 average      
 interest <6 6-12 1 - 2 2 - 5 > 5 
 rate months months years years years 
Consolidated %  AUD$   AUD$   AUD$   AUD$   AUD$  

2011       

Financial assets       

Non-interest bearing  149,266 - - - - 

Cash 5.2% 1,811,062 - - - - 

Financial liabilities       

Non-interest bearing  (508,751) - - - - 

Total  1,451,577 - - - - 

2010       

Financial assets       

Non-interest bearing  56,227     

Cash 4.7% 2,160,842 - - - - 

Deposit       

Financial liabilities  - - - - - 

Non-interest bearing  (594,343)     

Total  1,622,726 - - - - 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont.) 

 

(g) Fair value of financial instruments 

The Company’s and the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are recorded on the balance sheet are carried at 
amounts that approximate net fair values. 

Valuation approach 

Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined by the Group on the following basis: 

Cash, cash equivalents 

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity. 

Receivables and payables 

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term in nature. 

Available-for-sale investments and other financial assets 

For available-for-sale investments, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current 
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows or the underlying net asset base of the investment. 

 

23. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) Reconciliation of operating loss after income tax to net cash used in operating 
activities. 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Loss after income tax (975,482) (1,044,438) 
Add / less non-cash items:   
Depreciation 10,575 560 
Exploration expenditure written off 80,083 - 
Share based Payments - 386,677 
Increase in allowance for diminution of investments (13,800) 4,800 
Net cash provided by operating activities before 
changes in assets and liabilities (898,624) (652,961) 
Changes in assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions)   
Decrease / (increase) in receivables (36,334) (49,814) 
(Increase) / decrease in payables (88,191) (251,129) 
Net cash used in operating activities (1,023,149) (953,904) 

 

(b) Reconciliation of cash 

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statements, cash includes cash on hand and in banks. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Cont.) 

 

(c) Non-cash investing and financing activities 

Lower Smoke Creek Tenement 

On 17 November 2010 Astro Resources NL acquired the Lower Smoke Creek Tenement for the consideration of 
5,000,000 shares; 

 

24. COMMITMENTS 

Exploration 

The Company has to perform minimum exploration work and expend minimum amounts of money on its tenements.  The 
overall expenditure requirement tends to be limited in the normal course of the Company’s tenement portfolio 
management through expenditure exemption approvals, and expenditure reductions through relinquishment of parts or 
the whole of tenements deemed non prospective.  Should the Company wish to preserve interests in its current 
tenements the amount which may be required to be expended is as follows: 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
No later than one year 157,580 449,160 
Later than one year but not later than five years 798,160 1,753,320 
 955,740 2,202,480 

Leasing 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
No later than one year - 67,123 
Later than one year but not later than five 
years - - 
 - 67,123 

 

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

Other than the contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of Macphee Resources Pty Ltd and contingent 
commitments relating to expenditure detailed in Note 29 there are no other contingent liabilities. 
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26. CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

  2011 2010 
Parent Entity   
Astro Resources NL   
Controlled Entity   
Astro Bow River Mines Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
Boldhill Holdings Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
Macphee Resources Pty Ltd 100% 100% 
North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 100% 100% 

 

Controlled entities are incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 

 

27. RELATED PARTIES  

(a) Key Management Personnel Disclosure 

The names of the Directors and Executives in office during the year are as follows:- 

Directors 

Mr P Jermyn Executive Chairman, 

Mr M Macleod Executive Director, 

Mr R Hyndes Executive Director, 

Executives 

Mr L McCreery Company Secretary, 

Pursuant to the Corporations Act Regulation 2M.3.03 and 2M.6.04, Directors and Executives remuneration is 
disclosed in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report of this Financial Report. 

The key management personnel compensation are as follows: 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Short term employee benefits 300,500 303,566 
Other long term benefits - - 
Termination benefits - - 
Post-employment benefits - - 
Share based payments - 138,602 
 300,500 442,168 
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RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

 

(b) Equity Holdings and Transactions 

Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel 

 Balance at  Exercised Balance at Not Vested  
Name Start of year Granted as During End of year & Not Vested & 

 1 July 2010 Remuneration the year 30 June 2011 Exercisable Exercisable 
Directors       
Peter Jermyn 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Robert Hyndes 10,000,000 - - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod 15,000,000 - - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Executives       
Lynton McCreery 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 
Total 42,500,000 - - 42,500,000 - 42,500,000 
       
 Balance at  Exercised Balance at Not Vested  
Name Start of year Granted as During End of year & Not Vested & 
 1 July 2009 Remuneration the year 30 June 2010 Exercisable Exercisable 
Directors       
Peter Jermyn - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Robert Hyndes - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 - 15,000,000 
Executives       
Lynton McCreery - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 - 2,500,000 
Total - 42,500,000 - 42,500,000 - 42,500,000 

Share Holdings of Key Management Personnel 
 Balance at    Balance at 

Name Start of year Granted as On Exercise Other End of year 
 1 July 2010 Compensation Of Options Changes 30 June 2011 

Directors      
Peter Jermyn 29,729,413 - - - 29,729,413 
Robert Hyndes 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - - - - - 
Executives      
Lynton McCreery 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000 
Total 39,729,413 - - - 39,729,413 
 

 Balance at    Balance at 
Name Start of year Granted as On Exercise Other End of year 

 1 July 2009 Compensation Of Options Changes 30 June 2010 
Directors      
Peter Jermyn 19,729,413 - - 10,000,000 29,729,413 
Robert Hyndes - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 
Malcolm Macleod - - - - - 
Executives      
Lynton McCreery - - - 7,000,000 7,000,000 
Total 19,729,413  - 20,000,000 39,729,413 
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RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

 

Some of the Directors of the Company were also Directors of the following companies 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 

Capital Alliance Pty Ltd   
During the year   
Fees for management services (65,000) (60,000) 
At year end   
Trade and other payables – current (11,000) (5,500) 
Splendour Investments Pty Ltd   
During the year   
Fees for management services (67,500) (82,500) 
At year end   
Trade and other payables – current (11,000) (9,129) 
Atlas Partners Pty Ltd   
During the year   
Fees for office support services   
 Administration (69,670) (61,474) 
 Bookkeeping (37,539) (21,318) 
 Project Management (8,878) (8,656) 
 Technical Support (30,299) (5,552) 
 Design (6,286) (925) 
 Company Secretarial (13,119) (13,902) 
 Financial Analyst (4,068) (5,012) 
At year end   
Trade and other receivables 477 - 
Trade and other payables – current (47,992) (17,598) 
3 Richardson Pty Ltd   
During the year   
Fees for rent and related costs (50,975) - 
At year end   
Trade and other payables – current (2,745) - 
Vector Resources Ltd   
During the year   
Fees received for rent and related costs 26,108 23,693 
At year end   
Trade and other receivables 3,665 11,524 
Mamba Minerals Ltd   
During the year   
Fees received for rent and related costs 12,071 - 
At year end   
Trade and other receivables 1,301 - 

The management fees that were paid to Capital Alliance Pty Ltd (being a related entity of Mr Peter Jermyn) and 
Splendour Investments Pty Ltd (being a related entity of Mr Robert Hyndes) are included in the Remuneration 
Report which forms part of the Directors Report. 
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RELATED PARTIES (Cont.) 

 

Rent and related costs were paid to 3 Richardson Pty Ltd a company which Mr R Hyndes is a director of. 

Rent and related costs were charged to Vector Resources Ltd and Mamba Minerals Ltd companies which Mr R 
Hyndes is a director of. 

28. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

   Consolidated 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Amounts received or due and receivable by 
the auditors for:   

Auditing or reviewing of the financial statements    
- Stantons International 23,939 15,000 
- PKF Chartered Accountants - 17,049 

 23,939 32,049 
Other Services   
- Stantons International - - 
- PKF Chartered Accountants - - 

 - - 
 

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION 

a) Macphee Resources Pty Ltd 

On the 23rd November 2009 Astro Resources NL acquired all of the issued capital of Macphee Resources Pty Ltd 
including the assignment of the vendors loan account.  

Macphee holds a Uranium prospect located within lease E80/3243 at Macphee Creek in the East Kimberley region 
of Western Australia. 

Details of net assets acquired are as follows. 

Purchase Consideration $ 
Cash Paid 47,983 
Issue of Shares 10M at $0.01 100,000 
Contingent Consideration 200,000 
 347,983 

The assets and liabilities are as follows: 

 
Recognised on 

Acquisition Carrying Value 
 $ $ 
Mineral Tenement 375,000 375,000 
Less Loan from Vendor (27,017) (27,017) 
 347,983 347,983 

 
The cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:  
Cash paid 47,983 
Net Cash Outflow 47,983 
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont.) 

 

Acquisition related Costs 

Acquisition related costs of $750 are included in other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Contingent Consideration 

The Contingent consideration relates to the issue of 20 million shares on the following basis; 

• 10 million Shares to be issued on the commencement of drilling. 

• 10 million Shares to be issued on achieving an Inferred JORC resource of 5 million pounds. 

In accordance with the new revised accounting standard AASB 3 it is a requirement to show the fair value of the 
contingent liability and the corresponding asset at acquisition date which was $200,000 based on the market value 
of the Company’s shares at that date, not withstanding that the NPV at that time may be less given the structural 
nature and also the risk factors associated with this transaction. 

A 1% net smelter royalty is payable on any revenues generated from the sale of uranium.  

b) North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 

On the 3 February 2010 Astro Resources NL acquired all of the issued capital of North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 
(“NDM”).  NDM has a 60% interest in the North Doolgunna Joint Venture (“NDJV”) and has the right to earn a 
further 20% by spending $2 Million prior to the end of the third anniversary period.  

Details of net assets acquired are as follows. 

Purchase Consideration $ 
Cash Paid / Payable 300,000 
30M Shares at $0.01 300,000 
15M Options at value of $0.004 60,000 

 660,000 

 

The assets and liabilities are as follows: 

60% interest in NDJV 660,000 
 
The cash outflow on acquisition is as follows:  
Cash paid 200,000 
Net Cash flow 200,000 

 

Acquisition related Costs 

Acquisition related costs of $96,055 are included in other expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (Cont.) 

 

North Doolgunna Joint Venture 

North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary, has a 60% interest in the North Doolgunna Joint 
Venture wherein; 

• The Vendor will retain a free carried non-contributing interest in the North Doolgunna Project (initial 
40% reducing to 20% upon the project earn-in being met) up to the completion of a Bankable 
Feasibility Study (BFS) and a 1% Net Smelter Royalty on the sale of all commodities from the North 
Doolgunna Project. 

• All minimum expenditure required to keep the Tenements in good standing are to be met by NDM – 
if these are not met within three (3) months of a tenements anniversary and/or in the event NDM 
decided to surrender its interest in a tenement(s), the Vendor has a call option to acquire NDM’s 
interest in the relevant tenement(s) for $1.00. 

• In the event that the First Commitment or Second Commitment are not satisfied, NDM must transfer 
half of its total interest in the North Doolgunna Project at that time to the Vendor and give the 
Vendor full control over the Joint Venture (i.e. if NDM interest at that time is 70% NDM will transfer 
35% of its interest in the project to the Vendor). 

• Astro will have the first right of refusal to acquire the remaining 20%. 

As at 30 June 2011 the Group had contributed $179,517 to the joint venture 

30. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent to the financial year-end the following material events occurred; 

On the 13 July 2011, the Company extended its exclusivity over the Scott Coastal Plain Mineral Sands Project held 
by Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd (GWM). 

On the 2 August 2011, the Company announced it had paid a $150,000 option fee for the rights to acquire (subject 
to a 45 day due diligence period), 80% of the issued share capital of GWM for an agreed cash and share 
consideration (as detailed below). 

On the 29 August 2011, the Company announced the granting of Lower Smoke Creek Exploration License 
(E80/4120) adjoins the Argyle Diamond Mine tenement area in the Kimberley Region of Western Australia.  

On the 20 September 2011, the Company announced the completion of the acquisition an 80% equity interest in 
GWM.  The final terms of the acquisition; 

Cash Consideration 

1. $500,000 payable on completion, $500,000 payable in 6 months from completion or upon the 
cumulative raising of $2million by the Company.3 

2. $100,000 to be paid within 21 days after the date of Ministerial approval of the conversion of 
E70/2372 to a mining lease; and 

                                                           
3 The Vendor is to retain security over the shares of GWM until the second tranche of $500,000 is paid. 
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.) 
 

3. $250,000 shall be paid within 21 days of a decision being made by the Company to mine any minerals 
from any Tenement.  
 

Share Consideration 

1. 80million fully paid ordinary shares (Shares) issued on completion. 120milion shares subject to 
shareholder approval at the Company’s AGM to be held no later than 30 November 2011.  In the 
unlikely event that shareholders do not approve the issue of the 120million shares to the Vendors, 
the Vendors will be entitled to a cash-equivalent based on 5 day VWOP of the share price 
immediately prior to completion.  The 200million Shares are to be held in escrow for 12 months.  

2. 150million Shares shall be issued to the Seller within 21 days after the date of Ministerial approval of 
E70/2372 to a mining lease; and 

3. 100million Shares shall be issued to Seller within 21 days of a decision being made by the Company to 
mine any minerals from any Tenement within the Project. 

Net Revenue Royalty 

The Vendor is to retain a 1.5% per cent net revenue royalty on any minerals produced from the project. 

Board Appointment 

On 20 September 2011, Mr Graham Libbesson was appointed to the Board, as a non-executive director.  Graham 
has over 30 years experience in business, taxation, management and mergers and acquisitions, as a Chartered 
Accountant, business advisor and director of various listed and unlisted companies. 
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31. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION 

 

Information relating to Astro Resources NL 
 2011 2010 
 $ $ 
Current Assets 2,940,209 2,208,935 
Non Current Assets 1,058,981 1,355,952 
Total Assets 3,999,190 3,564,887 
   
Current Liabilities 502,851 594,343 
Net Assets 3,496,339 2,970,544 
   
Equity   
Issued Capital 5,843,054 4,759,498 
Reserves 1,486,652 1,464,652 
Accumulated Losses (3,833,367) (3,253,606) 
 3,496,339 2,970,544 
   
Profit or (Loss) of Parent Entity (579,761) (1,134,224) 
Total Comprehensive income of the Parent Entity - - 
   
Details of any guarantees entered into by the parent 
entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries - - 
Details of any contingent liabilities of the 
parent entity - - 
Details of any contractual commitments by 
the parent entity for the acquisition of 
property plant or equipment  - 

North Doolgunna milestone payment  
(see note 29(b))   
Cash 200,000 200,000 
Issue of 20m shares and 10 million options - - 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

The directors of Astro Resources NL declare that: 

(a) in the directors’ opinion the financial statements and notes and the Remuneration report in the Directors 
Report set out on pages 26 to 62, and 16 to 21 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 
2011 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and Corporations Regulations 2001. 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1(b); 
and 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 

The directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 by the Chairman and 
chief financial officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.  

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

Dated 28 September 2011 

 

Mr Peter Jermyn 
Chairman 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 

Astro Resource NL (Company) is committed to implementing the highest standards of Corporate Governance, in a manner 
in which is practical and efficient given the Company’s size and operations. 

The Company is pleased to advise that its practices are mostly consistent with the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (2nd edition).  Where the Company’s Corporate Governance 
practices do not correlate with the practices recommended by the Council, the Company has provided an explanation as 
to why it does not consider that the practices are appropriate for the Company. 

To illustrate where the Company has addressed each of the Council’s recommendations, the following table identifies 
each recommendation, clearly states whether the Company has adopted the recommendation and provides cross-
references to the sections of this report addressing that recommendation.  Where the Company has not adopted a 
recommendation, refer to the identified section of this report for the Company’s reasons for not adopting that 
recommendation.  The table does not provide the full text of each recommendation, but rather a summary of the topic 
covered.  Details of all of the recommendations can be found on the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s website. 

RECOMMENDATION RECOMMENDATION 
ADOPTED? 

SECTION 

Principle 1 – Lay solid foundations for management and oversight   
1.1-Companies should establish the functions reserved for the board and 
those delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions 

Yes 1.1 

1.2-Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance 
of senior executives. 

No 1.2 

1.3-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1. 

Yes 1.1, 1.2 

Principle 2 – Structure the board to add value   
2.1-A majority of the board should be independent directors No 2.1 
2.2-The chair should be independent Director No 2.2 
2.3-The Roles of the Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be 
exercised by the same individual 

Yes 2.3 

2.4-The board should establish a nomination committee No 2.4 
2.5-Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance 
of the board, its committees and individual Directors 

Yes 1.2 

2.6-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2 

Yes 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 
1.2 

Principle 3 – Promote ethical and responsible decision-making   
3.1-Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or 
a summary of the code as to: 

• the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s 
integrity; 

• the practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations 
and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders; and 

• the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting 
and investigating reports of unethical practices. 

Yes 3.1 

3.2-Companies should establish a policy concerning trading in company 
securities by directors, senior executives and employees, and disclose the 
policy or a summary of that policy 

Yes 3.2 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

RECOMMENDATION RECOMMENDATION 
ADOPTED? 

SECTION 

3.3-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3 

Yes 3.1, 3.2 

Principle 4 – Safeguard integrity on financial reporting   
4.1-The board should establish an audit committee No 4.1 
4.2-The audit committee should be structured so that it: 

• consists only of non-executive directors; 
• consists of a majority of independent directors; 
• is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board; 

and 
• has at least three members. 

No 4.1, 4.2 

4.3-The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes 4.3 
4.4-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4 

Yes 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 

Principle 5 – Make timely and balanced disclosures   
5.1-Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and disclose 
those policies or a summary of those policies. 

Yes 5.1 

5.2-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5 

Yes 5.1 

Principle 6 – Respect the rights of shareholders   
6.1-Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary of 
that policy. 

Yes 6.1 

6.2-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6 

Yes 6.1 

Principle 7 – Recognise and manage risk   
7.1-Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management 
of material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies. 

Yes 7.1 

7.2-The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage the company’s 
material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively.  The board should disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of its 
material business risks. 

Yes 7.1, 7.2 

7.3-The board should disclose whether it has received assurances from the 
chief executive officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Yes 7.3 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

RECOMMENDATION RECOMMENDATION 
ADOPTED? 

SECTION 

7.4-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7 

Yes 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 

Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and Responsibly   
8.1-The board should establish a remuneration committee No 8.1 
8.2-Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
directors remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives 

Yes 8.2 

8.3-Companies should provide the information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8 

Yes 8.1, 8.2 

 

Website Disclosure. 

A description of the Company’s main Corporate Governance practices is set out below.  Further information about the 
Company’s corporate governance practices may be found on the Company’s website – www.aro.com.au under the 
“Corporate Governance” tag. 

The recommendations are not prescriptions and are intended as guidelines only.  The Board has sought to apply the 
revised recommendations to the extent relevant to the Company’s size and scale of operations. 

Recommendation 1.1: Establish the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to senior 
executives and disclose those functions. 

The Company’s activities are currently not of a sufficient size nor are its  affiliates  of such complexity to justify the 
employment of full-time management personnel.  Accordingly, most of the functions of management are undertaken by 
consultants under the supervision of the Chief Executive Officer who is responsible for management activities under 
delegated authority of the Board.  The functions specifically reserved for the full Board are detailed in the Company’s 
Board Charter which is available on the Company’s website.  In addition, the following functions are also carried out by the 
Board. 

Recommendation 1.1 (Cont.) 

(a) Setting and monitoring of objectives, goals and strategic direction with a view to maximising shareholder 
value, consistent with ethical behaviour and acceptable risk parameters; 

(b) Approving budgets and monitoring financial performance; 

(c) Identifying significant business risks and ensuring that these are appropriately managed. 

(d) Approval of any significant asset acquisitions or disposals; 

(e) Selection and appointment of new Directors; and 

(f) Appointment and removal of the Chief Executive Officer. 

http://www.aro.com.au/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

Under the Company’s Board Charter, senior management is responsible for supporting the Chief Executive 
Officer/executive directors and assisting the Chief Executive Officer/executive directors implement the running of the 
general operations and financial business of the Company, in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board. Senior 
management is responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company’s materiality thresholds at first 
instance to the executive or, if the matter concerns the chief executive officer, then directly to the Chair or the lead 
independent director, as appropriate.  However, as noted above, the Company does not currently employ senior 
management separate from the Board. 

The Board has agreed on the following guidelines, set out in the Company’s Board Charter, for assessing the materiality of 
matters: 

• Balance sheet items are material if they have a value of more than 5% of pro-forma net asset.  

• Profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the current year operating result of 5% or 
more.  

• Items are also material if: (a) they impact on the reputation of the Company; (b) they involve a breach of 
legislation or may potentially breach legislation; (c) they are outside the ordinary course of business; (d) they 
could affect the Company’s rights to its assets; (e) if accumulated they would trigger the quantitative tests; 
(f) they involve a contingent liability that would have a probable effect of 5% or more on balance sheet or 
profit and loss items; or (g) they will have an effect on operations which is likely to result in an increase or 
decrease in net income or dividend distribution of more than 5%.  

• Contracts will be considered material if: (a) they are outside the ordinary course of business; (b) they contain 
exceptionally onerous provisions in the opinion of the Board; (c) they impact on income or distribution in 
excess of the quantitative tests; (d) any default, should it occur may trigger any of the quantitative or 
qualitative tests; (e) they are essential to the activities of the Company and cannot be replaced, or cannot be 
replaced without an increase in cost of such a quantum, triggering any of the quantitative tests; (f) they 
contain or trigger change of control provisions; (g) they are between or for the benefit of related parties; or 
(h) they otherwise trigger the quantitative tests. 

Recommendation 1.2: Disclose the process of evaluating the performance of senior executives. 

As stated in 1.1 above, the Company does not engage full time management personnel and the role of Chief Executive 
Officer is carried out by care of the director, Robert Hyndes at the Direction of the Board.  Accordingly the review of the 
performance of senior executive is confined to the board which is undertaken as disclosed below under Recommendation 
2.5.   

Recommendation 2.1: A majority of the Board should be independent Directors. 

Given the Company’s background, the size and nature of its business and the current stage of its development, the board 
comprises of three directors – none of whom are independent.  The Board believes this to be appropriate and acceptable 
at this stage of the Company’s development. 

The Board has in place the arrangement whereby a Director can, with the approval of the Chairman, obtain independent 
professional advice in order for him to discharge his duties.  

The experience and expertise held by each director and each director’s period of office is disclosed in the Directors’ 
Report. 

The date of appointment of each director is disclosed in the Directors’ Report. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

Recommendation 2.2: The Chairperson should be an independent director. 

The Chairman of the Company is an independent director. 

Recommendation 2.3: The roles of Chair and Chief Executive Officer should not be exercised by the 
same individual 

The roles of the Chairman (Mr Peter Jermyn) and the Chief Executive Officer (Robert Hyndes) are separate. 

Recommendation 2.4: The Board should establish a nomination committee. 

The Board considers that the Company is not currently of a size to justify the formation of a nomination committee.  The 
Board as a whole undertakes the process of reviewing the skill base and experience of existing Directors and the 
identification of attributes required in new Directors.  The board as a whole also reviews Board succession plans, 
appointment and re-election of Directors and the process for evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Members 
and management (as outlined under recommendation 2.5).  Where appropriate, independent consultants will be engaged 
to identify possible new candidates for the Board. 

New directors are selected by the Board in their capacity as both remuneration and nomination committee and their 
appointment voted by the Board.  Each year, in addition to any Board members appointed to fill casual vacancies during 
the year, one third of the directors retire by rotation and are subject to re-election by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting 

Should the Company’s activities increase in size, scope and nature, the appointment of a nomination committee will be 
reviewed by the board and implemented if appropriate. 

The full Board in its capacity as the Nomination Committee held one meeting during the Reporting Period.  Details of the 
directors’ attendance at the meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

To assist the Board to fulfil its function as the Nomination Committee, it has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter.  A 
copy of the Company’s Nomination Committee Charter can be viewed on the Company’s Website. 

Recommendation 2.5: Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors. 

The performance of all directors is reviewed at least annually.  The Board evaluates the performance of the Chairman and 
any other Director having regard to such things as: 

(a) The responsibility of the executive; 

(b) Performance against budget; 

(c) Any communicated key performance indicators; and 

(d) Qualitative as well as quantitative measures. 

No Director is involved with his or her own evaluation, and the remainder of the Board evaluates such parties without 
such parties being present. 

The evaluation is carried out by way of round table discussions. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

Recommendation 2.6: Selection and (Re)Appointment of Directors 

As the full Board participates in the appointment process for new directors, there is some informality in the appointment 
process. The Board is empowered to engage external consultants in its search for a new director, particularly as a means 
to increase the presentation of candidates which meet the requirements and targets set by the Board.  

Recommendation 3.1: Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code of a summary of the code 
as to: 

• The practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity; 

• The practices necessary to take into account their legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of their 
stakeholders; 

• The responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices. 

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct which can be accessed at the Company’s website under the “Corporate 
Governance” tag. 

Recommendation 3.2: Establish a policy concerning trading in Company securities by Directors, 
senior executives and employees, and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy. 

The Company has adopted a Trading Policy which can be accessed at the Company’s website under the “Corporate 
Governance” tag. 

Recommendation 4.1: The Board should establish an audit committee. 

The Board has not established an audit committee as it believes that, given the size of the board, no efficiencies are 
derived from a formal committee structure.  Notwithstanding the non-existence of the audit committee, ultimate 
responsibility for the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting rests with the full Board.  All items that would normally 
be dealt with by an audit committee are dealt with at Board meetings.  Such matters include: 

(a) Establishment and review of internal control frameworks within the Company; 

(b) Review of the financial statements, annual report and any other financial information distributed to 
shareholders or other external stakeholders; 

(c) Review of audit reports and any correspondence from auditors, including comments on the company’s 
internal controls; 

(d) Nomination of the external auditor and reviewing the adequacy of the scope and quality of the annual audit 
and half year review; and 

(e) Monitoring compliance with the Corporations Act, ASX Listing Rules and any other regulatory requirements. 

The full Board in its capacity as the Audit Committee held two meetings during the reporting period.  Details of the 
directors’ attendance at the meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

Details of each of the directors’ qualifications are set out in the Directors’ Report. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

Recommendation 4.2: The audit committee should be structured so that it: 

• consists only of non-executive Directors; 

• consists of a majority of independent Directors; 

• is chaired by an independent Chairperson, who is not Chairperson of the Board; and 

• has at least three members. 

See comments under recommendation 4.1 above. 

Recommendation 4.3: The audit committee should have a formal charter. 

The Board has adopted an Audit and Risk Committee Charter.   

The Company’s Audit and Risk Committee Charter can be accessed at the Company’s website under the “Corporate 
Governance’” tag. 

Recommendation 4.4: Procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of external audit 
engagement partners 

The Board is responsible for the initial appointment of the external auditor and the appointment of a new external auditor 
when any vacancy arises, as per the recommendations of the Audit Committee (or its equivalent).  Any appointment made 
by the Board must be ratified by shareholders at the next annual general meeting of the Company.  Candidates for the 
position of external auditor of the Group must be able to demonstrate complete independence from the Company and an 
ability to maintain independence through the engagement period.  Further, the successful candidate must have 
arrangements in place for the rotation of the audit engagement partner on a regular basis.  Other than the mandatory 
criteria mentioned above, the Board may select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the business of the 
Company such as experience in the industry in which the Company operates, references, cost and any other matters 
deemed relevant by the Board.  The Audit Committee (or its equivalent) will review the performance of the external 
auditor on an annual basis and make any recommendations to the Board. 

The procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of external audit engagement partners are set out in the 
Company’s Audit and Risk Committee Charter, available on the Company’s website.   

Recommendation 5.1: establish written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior executive 
level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies. 

The Company has adopted an Information Policy which sets out the procedure for: 

• protecting confidential information from unauthorised disclosure; 

• identifying material price sensitive information and reporting it to the Company Secretary for review; 

• ensuring the Company achieves best practice in complying with its continuous disclosure obligations under 
the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules; and 

• ensuring the Company and individual officers do not contravene the Corporations Act or ASX Listing Rules 
(which carry serious penalties) 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

The Company has obligations under Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules to keep the market fully informed of 
information which may have a material effect on the price or value of the Company’s securities and to correct any material 
or misinformation in the market.  The Company discharges these obligations by releasing information to the ASX in the 
form of an ASX release or disclosure in other relevant documents (e.g. the Annual Report). 

The maintenance of confidentiality is also of paramount importance to the Company both to protect its trade secrets and 
to prevent any false market for the Company’s shares and developing. 

The Information Policy does not address polices for the directors and senior executives in buying and selling the 
Company’s shares. These policies are set out in the Company’s “Securities Dealing Policy”. 

A copy of the Company’s Information Policy can be accessed at the Company’s website under the ‘Corporate Governance” 
tag.  

Recommendation 6.1: Design a communications policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging their participation at general meetings and disclose that policy 
or a summary of that policy. 

The Company has a policy for effective communication with shareholders which is available on the Company’s website 
under the “Corporate Governance” tag. 

Recommendation 7.1: Establish policies for the oversight and management of material business 
risk and disclose a summary of those policies. 

The Company has established a policy for the oversight and management of material business risks which is available on 
the Company’s website under the “Corporate Governance” tag.  The policy sets out the Company’s risk profile.  Under the 
policy, the Board is responsible for approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and management and satisfying 
itself that management has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control. 

Recommendation 7.2: The Board should require management to design and implement the risk 
management and internal control system to manage the Company’s material business risks and 
report to it on whether those risks are being managed effectively.  The Board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to effectiveness of the Company’s management of its material 
business risks. 

The management of all business risks are the responsibility of the Board, and the Board believes the risk management and 
internal control systems designed and implemented by the Directors and the Chief Executive Officer are adequate given 
the size and nature of the Company’s activities.  The Board meets informally to report and discuss any risks that may have 
been identified, as well as reporting on matters that may have arisen from the Company’s internal control procedures. 

The objectives of the risk management strategy are to identify the risks to the Company, ensuring that the Company is in 
compliance with all regulatory requirements and there is a balance of risk to reward. 

When evaluating potential acquisitions or investments, the Board undertakes a methodical investigation and due diligence 
review of the project. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONT.) 

 

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems are reviewed by the Board annually.  The Company intends to 
develop the risk reporting framework into a detailed policy as its operations continue to grow. 

The categories of risk reported on or referred to as part of the Company’s systems and processes for managing material 
business risk include: 

A full review of the Company’s risk management practices is under review, the outcome of this review will be disclosed on 
the Company’s website by 31 December 2011.  

Recommendation 7.3: The Board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the Chief 
Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer (or equivalent) that the 
declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act is founded on a 
sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively 
in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Recommendation 8.1: The Board should establish a remuneration committee. 

The Board considers that, based on the Company’s stage of development, no benefits or efficiencies are to be gained by 
delegating this function to a separate committee.  The process for evaluating both executives and directors remuneration 
is explained under recommendation 1.2 above.   

The full Board in its capacity as the Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the Reporting Period.  Details of 
the directors’ attendance at the meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report. 

To assist the Board to fulfil its function as the Remuneration Committee, it has adopted a Remuneration Committee 
Charter.  A copy of the Company’s Remuneration Committee Charter can be viewed on the Company’s Website. 

There are no termination or retirement benefits, other than superannuation, for non-executive directors. 

Recommendation 8.2: Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of Non-Executive 
Directors’ remuneration from that of Executive Directors. 

The structure of Executive and Non-Executive Director’s remuneration is detailed in the remuneration report, which forms 
part of the Directors’ Report in the Annual Report.  

The Company’s Remuneration Committee Charter includes a statement of the Company’s policy on  

prohibiting executives from entering into transactions or arrangements which limit the economic risk of participating in 
unvested entitlements. 
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As at 27 September 2011 the following information applied: 

1. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

Substantial shareholders disclosed in substantial shareholder notices to the Company: 

 No. of Shares Held % Held 
   
MINING INVESTMENTS LIMITED  230,000,000 13.29% 

 

2. SECURITIES 

(a) Fully paid ordinary shares 

The number of holders of fully paid ordinary shares in the Company is 1,266.  On a show of hands every holder of 
fully paid ordinary shares present or by proxy, shall have one vote.  Upon a poll, each fully paid ordinary share shall 
have one vote.  The distribution of holders of fully paid ordinary shares is as follows: 

 No. of Holders No. of Shares 
   
1 - 1,000 47 14,502 
1,001 - 5,000 20 64,414 
5,001 - 10,000 12 100.881 
10,001 - 100,000 233 16,084,918 
100,001 and over 954 1,713,769,857 
 1,266 1,509,534,572 
Number holding less than a marketable parcel 413 30,224,332 

 

The Company’s fully paid ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian Securities Exchange using the code ARO. 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONT.) 

 

Top 20 Shareholders 

  No. of Shares Held % Held 
    

1 MINING INVESTMENTS LIMITED  230,000,000 13.29% 
2 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED  72,429,674 4.198% 
3 PENSON AUSTRALIA NOMINIES PTY LTD  63,333,334 3.66% 
4 DENTOST PTY LTD  50,000,000 2.89% 
5 NEWMONT MINING FINANCE PTY LTD  37,440,466 2.16% 
6 MR DAVID WAYNE AUSTIN & MRS CHRISTINA YIT 

LING AUSTIN  
29,996,001 1.73% 

7 MARVELOUS GAIN LIMITED 23,900,000 1.38% 
8 MR LIN CHENG  22,000,000 1.27% 
9 KING DRAGON (FAR EAST) LTD 21,011,030 1.21% 

10 DENTOST PTY LTD  20,000,000 1.16% 
11 CONSOLIDATED SECURITIES PTY LTD  17,666,653 1.02% 
12 MAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED  15,100,000 0.87% 
13 SOUTH BANC GROUP PTY LTD  15,025,996 0.87% 
14 MR CLIVE HARRY WORTHINGTON 15,010,319 0.87% 
15 MR ADRIAN DONALD LEE  14,000,000 0.81% 
16 INNISFALLEN ENTERPRISES PTY LTD  13,000,000 0.75% 
16 MILLENIUM EQUITIES PTY LTD  13,000,000 0.75% 
17 MR CON CONSTANTI  10,451,242 0.60% 
18 AMPASAND PTY LTD 10,000,000 0.58% 
20 MR MITESH ZAVERBHAI PATEL 8,475,000 0.49% 

  721,139,715 41.68% 
 

(b)  Options maturing 30 November 2012 ($0.05) over fully paid ordinary shares. 

The number of holders of options maturing on 30 November 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares issued by the 
Company is 216.  Option holders may attend and speak at general meetings of the Company.  However, they have 
no entitlement to vote upon the business before the meeting either by show of hands or by poll.  The distribution 
of holders of options is as follows: 

 No. of Holders No. of Options 
   
1 - 1,000 16 6,682 
1,001 - 5,000 22 55,765 
5,001 - 10,000 3 17,338 
10,001 - 100,000 31 2,005,484 
100,001 and over 134 317,078,058 
 216 319,163,322 
 

The Company’s options maturing on 30 November 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares are quoted on the 
Australian Securities Exchange using the code AROOB. 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONT.) 

 

Top 20 Option Holders 

  No. of Options Held % Held 
    

1 JACOBS CORPORATION PTY LTD 24,558,700 7.69% 
2 WILZED PTY LTD 20,296,580 6.36% 
3 CONSOLIDATED SECURITIES PTY LTD  17,666,653 5.54% 
4 MR DAVID WAYNE AUSTIN & MRS CHRISTINA YIT 

LING AUSTIN 
15,000,000 4.70% 

5 EXCHANGE MINERALS LIMITED  13,333,334 4.18% 
6 MIDDLE EAST PETROLEUM SERVICES LTD  13,333,333 4.18% 
7 MR TERRY RONALD SHARP & MRS LYNETTE 

CATHERINE SHARP 
10,505,000 3.29% 

8 CELIAT SECURITIES PTY LTD 10,000,000 3.13% 
9 BRUTUS INVESTMENTS PTY LTD  8,833,347 2.77% 

10 ASB NOMINEES LIMITED 8,500,000 2.66% 
11 CHABAB HOUSE OF CAULFIELD PTY LTD  7,005,706 2.20% 
12 MR STEVEN BODEY  6,000,000 1.88% 
13 THE INDUSTRIAL GROUP PTY LTD  5,000,000 1.57% 
13 MR TERRY RONALD SHARP & MRS LYNETTE 

CATHERINE SHARP  
5,000,000 1.57% 

13 MR MICHAEL MATHEW MOORE & MR ANTHONY 
JOHN THOMAS MOORE  

5,000,000 1.57% 

13 MISS TARA ANGELA AUSTIN 5,000,000 1.57% 
14 MR JAMES IVANOFF 5,000,000 1.57% 
14 MR JASON PAUL MACK  4,997,174 1.57% 
15 MR RAUL USED  4,074,000 1.28% 
16 AUSTRALIAN PENSIONERS FUND - PTY LTD  4,019,520 1.26% 
17 MR MOHIDIEN KHAN  4,000,000 1.25% 
17 KARDWI PHARMACEUTICALS PTY LIMITED 4,000,000 1.25% 
18 MR MARCO MARTORIATI  3,750,000 1.17% 
19 MRS THERESE MEIERS 3,689,452 1.16% 
19 MR MARCO MARTORIATI  3,750,000 1.17% 
20 MR IAN MACDONALD  3,500,522 1.10% 

  212,063,321 66.44% 
 

(c) Options maturing 30 April 2012 ($0.25) over fully paid ordinary shares. 

The number of holders of options maturing on 30 April 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares issued by the Company 
is 39.  Option holders may attend and speak at general meetings of the Company.  However, they have no 
entitlement to vote upon the business before the meeting either by show of hands or by poll.  The distribution of 
holders of options is as follows: 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONT.) 

 

 No. of Holders No. of Options 
   
1 - 1,000 17 6,673 
1,001 - 5,000 11 25,447 
5,001 - 10,000 5 39,735 
10,001 - 100,000 3 76,833 
100,001 and over 3 13,416,668 
 39 13,565,356 

 
The Company’s options maturing on 30 April 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares are quoted on the Australian 
Securities Exchange using the code AROAK. 
 

Top 20 Option Holders 

  No. of Options Held % Held 
    
1 CHABAD HOUSE OF CAULFIELD PTY LTD 8,750,000 64.50% 
2 WILZED PTY LTD 4,533,334 33.42% 
3 MR ANTHONY PETER BARTON & MRS CORINNE 

BARTON 
133,334 0.98% 

4 M & K KORKIDAS PTY LTD 50,000 0.37% 
5 J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 16,666 0.12% 
6 M & K KORKIDAS PTY LTD 10,167 0.07% 
7 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 10,000 0.07% 
8 MRS JUDITH ANN VALENTINO 9,334 0.07% 
9 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 8,733 0.06% 
10 MR DONALD LAWRENCE VALENTINO & MRS JUDITH 

ANN VALENTINO 
6,334 0.05% 

11 MR CHRISTOPHER EDWIN OSBORNE 5,334 0.04% 
12 MRS AMIRA BAIUN  5,000 0.04% 
13 CAMERON INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 3,334 0.02% 
14 MR JOHN GORDON KELLAS 2,667 0.02% 
15 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED  2,610 0.02% 
16 WATHEN ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 2,500 0.02% 
17 MR BRIAN STEWART SINCLAIR & MRS MAXINE 

GWENDOLINE SINCLAIR 
2,000 0.01% 

18 MR PETER SCOTT GRIEVE 1,667 0.01% 
18 MR ANDREW RADONJIC  1,667 0.01% 
19 MR PAUL MATTHEW VALENTINO 1,334 0.01% 
19 MR DAVID PETER VALENTINO 1,334 0.01% 
19 CADUCEUS PTY LTD 1,334 0.01% 
20 MRS ELAINE DORETTA DAVIS 934 0.01% 
  13,559,617 99.96 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONT.) 

 

(d) Options maturing 13 July 2013 ($0.01) over fully paid ordinary shares. 

The number of holders of options maturing on 13 July 2013 over fully paid ordinary shares issued by the Company 
is 9.  Option holders may attend and speak at general meetings of the Company.  However, they have no 
entitlement to vote upon the business before the meeting either by show of hands or by poll. 

 

 No. of Holders No. Of Options 
   
1 - 1,000 - - 
1,001 - 5,000 - - 
5,001 - 10,000 - - 
10,001 - 100,000 - - 
100,001 and over 9 47,500,000 
 9 47,500,000 

The Company’s options maturing on 13 July 2013 over fully paid ordinary shares are unlisted options.   

Option Holders (total) 

  No. of Options Held % Held 
    

1 CABLE NOMINEES PTY LTD 15,000,000  31.58% 
2 MR MALCOLM MACLEOD 15,000,000  31.58% 
3 SPLENDOUR INVESTMENTS 10,000,000  21.05% 
4 MUTEROO PASTORAL COMPANY PTY LTD 2,500,000  5.26% 
5 NORVEST CORPORATE 2,500,000  5.26% 
6 MS LUCY OBORN 1,000,000  2.11% 
7 DOYLE ENTERPRISES PTY LTD 500,000  1.05% 
8 THE MACMILLAN SUPER FUND 500,000  1.05% 
9 WESTBELL PTY LTD 500,000  1.05% 
  47,500,000 100.00% 

 

(e) Options maturing 30 June 2012 ($0.01) over fully paid ordinary shares. 

The number of holders of options maturing on 30 June 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares issued by the Company 
is 12.  Option holders may attend and speak at general meetings of the Company.  However, they have no 
entitlement to vote upon the business before the meeting either by show of hands or by poll. 

 No. of Holders No. Of Options 
   
1 - 1,000 - - 
1,001 - 5,000 - - 
5,001 - 10,000 - - 
10,001 - 100,000 - - 
100,001 and over 12 130,000,000 
 12 130,000,000 

The Company’s options maturing on 30 June 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares are unlisted options. 
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Option Holders (total) 

  No. of Options Held % Held 
    

1 MINING INVESTMENTS LIMITED 37,500,000 28.85% 
2 MARVELOUS GAIN LIMITED 30,000,000 23.08% 
3 KING DRAGON (FAR EAST) LTD 17,500,000 13.46% 
4 MAIR HOLDINGS LIMITED 15,000,000 11.54% 
5 MR BEN SPIERS 6,250,000 4.81% 
6 IMPRESSIVE RACING PTY LTD 6,250,000 4.81% 
7 CITISIDE INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 5,000,000 3.85% 
8 GURNEY CAPITAL NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,750,000 2.88% 
9 SPRINGVILLA PASTORAL COMPANY 2,500,000 1.92% 

10 MUTEROO PASTORAL CO PTY LTD 2,500,000 1.92% 
11 MR STEVEN JOHN BODEY 2,500,000 1.92% 
12 SANDGROPER PTY LTD 1,250,000 0.96% 

 TOTAL 130,000,000 100.00% 
 

(f) Options maturing 31 March 2012 ($0.02) over fully paid ordinary shares. 

The number of holders of options maturing on 31 March 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares issued by the 
Company is 2.  Option holders may attend and speak at general meetings of the Company.  However, they have no 
entitlement to vote upon the business before the meeting either by show of hands or by poll. 

 No. of Holders No. Of Options 
1 - 1,000 - - 
1,001 - 5,000 - - 
5,001 - 10,000 - - 
10,001 - 100,000 - - 
100,001 and over 2 11,000,000 
 2 11,000,000 

 

The Company’s options maturing on 31 March 2012 over fully paid ordinary shares are unlisted options.   

Option Holders (total) 

  No. of Options Held  % Held 
    

1 Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 10,000,000 90.91% 
2 Exchange Minerals Limited 1,000,000 09.09% 
 TOTAL 11,000,000 100.00% 
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SCHEDULE OF TENEMENTS 
 

Lease Lease Status Project Holders 

E04/1405* Granted Ellendale East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

E52/2480 Granted North Doolgunna JV North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 

E52/2481 Granted North Doolgunna JV North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 

E52/2482 Granted North Doolgunna JV North Doolgunna Metals Pty Ltd 

E80/3315 Granted Bow River East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

E80/3243 Granted Macphee Macphee Resources Pty Ltd 

E80/4316 Application Carr Boyd Range East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

P80/1615 Granted Lissadell Dykes East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

P80/1616 Granted Lissadell Dykes East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

P80/1617 Granted Lissadell Dykes East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

E80/4120 Granted Lower Smoke Creek East Kimberley Diamond Corporation Pty Ltd 

EL23403 Application  Tanami Astro Diamond Mines NL  

EL24182 Application  Tanami Astro Diamond Mines NL  

E70/2372 Grant Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/2464 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/2655 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/2708 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/3681 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/3682 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

E70/4119 Application Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

P70/1583 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

P70/1584 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

P70/1585 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

P70/1586 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

P70/1587 Granted Scott Coastal Plain Governor Well Minerals Pty Ltd 

* Tenement expired subsequent to the end of the Financial Year. 
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